
Town of Spring Lake 

BOARD OF ..ALDR1U1EN OFFICE OF THE 11A l'°OR 
Kia Anthony. Maror Soi\a L. Cooper, Maror Pro T cm 

Robyn Chadwick, Aldcrn·oman 
Marvm Lackman, Aldcnnan 
Raul Pabc10s. Aldcnnan 
Adnan Thompson, Alderwoman 

lt.DJIINJSTRATIOR 
Jason Williams, Interim Town Manager 

Carly Aurry, Town Clerk 
Michael R. Porter, Town Attorney 

CHARTERED IN 1951 

Board of Aldermen Work Session Meeting Agenda 
Monday, April 22, 2024 

6:00 PM 
Grady Howard Conference Room 

The public may view the live Board of Aldermen Meeting on the Town's YouTube Channel: 
www.townofspringlake.com 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE - Pastor Long

3. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

5. APPROVAL OF CONSENT ITEMS

a. Draft Minutes of November 27, 2023, Work Session

b. Draft Minutes of March 25, 2024, Work Session

c. Begin the New Work Session Meeting Agenda

d. Community Appearance and Sustainability Committee Application - Lennox Jobe

6. PUBLIC COMMENT (Limit 3 minutes per speaker)

7. PRESENTATIONS

8. NEW BUSINESS

a. Discussion Regarding Public Hearing Held for Proposed Town Charter Amendment -

Alderman Raul Palacios

b. Discussion Regarding Mayor's Right to Vote - Mayor Kia Anthony

c. Discussion Regarding Town of Spring Lake Policies - Mayor Kia Anthony

d. Mayor's Report-Mayor Kia Anthony

e. Board of Aldermen Report - Spring Lake Board of Aldermen

f. Manager's Report - Interim Town Manager Jason Williams

300 Rulh Street 

Sprang Lake. Nonh Carol ma 28390 
(9 IO) 436-0241 

w,�w townofspringlake.com 





November 27, 2023 

Town of Spring Lake 

Work Session Meeting of the Board of Aldermen 

Municipal Building 

300 Ruth Street 

Spring Lake, NC 28390 

MINUTES 6:00 pm 

The Spring Lake Board of Aldermen held a work session meeting in the Grady Howard Conference 

Room of the Spring Lake Municipal Building with Mayor Kia Anthony presidir:ig. 

Board Members Present: Mayor Pro Tern Robyn Chadwick 

Alderwoman Sona L. Cooper 

Alderman Marvin Lackman 

Alderman Raul Palacios 

Alderwoman Adrian Thompson 

Others Present: 
Carly Autry, Town Clerk 

Banard Lemon, Audio Visual Coordinator 

Michael Porter, Town Attorney 

Dysoaneik Spellman, Spring Lake Police Chief 

Lieutenant Danny Sutton, Police Department' 

Jason Williams, Spring Lake Fire Chief/Interim Town Manager 

1. Call to order
Mayor Anthony declared a quorum and called the meeting.to order.

2. Invocation and Pledge·of Allegiance
Pastor Vernon·Marsh gave.the invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance.

3. Additions or Deletions

Alderman Palacios requested to add New Business, item 8h. discussion of the style of the Governing Body 

regarding Naming. 

4. Approval of Agenda

Action: Approval of the Agenda with no additions or deletions.

Motion by: Alderwoman Cooper

Second by: Alderman Lackman

Vote: Unanimous



5. Approval of Consent Items
Action: Approval of Draft Minutes of November 13, 2023, Regular Meeting. Alderman Lackman stated the

Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was led by Janet Perry, not Rita Perry. Town Clerk Carly Autry was

instructed to make the necessary change before signing and posting the approved minutes.

Motion by: Alderwoman Cooper

Second by: Alderwoman Thompson

Vote: Unanimous

6. Public Comment

None.

7. Presentations

None.

8. New Business
Mayor Anthony took a Point of Privilege and started with agenda item g.

g. Board Discussion Regarding Work Session Agenda - Mayor Kia Anthony - Mayor Anthony proposed

eliminating Public Comments because the Board is only required by statute to have Public Comments during

one of the regularly scheduled meetings. Mayor Anthony also proposed removing the individual updates

during the work sessions unless there is something pertinent that is happening and needs to be updated,

therefore, a Point of Privilege can be taken at that time. Ms. Autry asked Mayor Anthony if she wanted to

take out presentations as well and Mayor Anthony stated yes so it gives the Board time to openly discuss

the presentations they heard in the regular meeting. Mayor Anthony also stated no voting during work

sessions. Mayor Anthony stated to add these proposals to the agenda for the regular meeting in January to

approve these changes and asked Attorney Porter if this was legal. Attorney Porter stated yes, it is legal.

Alderman Palacios stated he agrees with everything, except the Public Comment section. Alderwoman

Cooper and Mayor Pro Tern Chadwick both stated they agreed with Alderman Palacios. Mayor Anthony

agreed to leave Public Comments. Alderwoman Cooper stated she is in favor of removing presentations

and the Board updates during work sessions. Mayor Anthony stated the Board can take a General

Consensus to add this to the next regular meeting in January.

a. Discussion of Monthly Financial Update - Mayor Kia Anthony - Mayor Anthony stated the monthly

financial updates were a requirement set by the State Auditor when they came and did the State audit and

one of the major recommendations was to make sure the Board received monthly financial updates. Mayor

Anthony stated since Mr. Erwin left, Ms. Boyle has been stagnant in getting these reports on time, so she

told Ms. Boyle she would discuss this with the Board. Mayor Anthony stated Debra Mack would provide a

summary report the Board could discuss and hopefully someone from the Finance Department could give

the Board monthly updates. Alderwoman Cooper stated whether someone comes or not, she would love

to have the report emailed monthly and on time. Mayor Anthony stated she addressed Ms. Boyle about

getting the reports on time and Ms. Boyle agreed. Alderman Lackman stated he would like to see a report

on where the Town was 12 months ago versus today. Mayor Anthony stated in January that the Board

should see a comprehensive update and the LGC is also working on the new Fiscal Accountability

Agreement. Alderwoman Cooper asked about the audit and has it started. Mr. Williams stated no, it was



supposed to start this month but the contract is not in place yet. Mayor Anthony requested for the audit 
to be put on the list of LGC questions so they could give the Board a more precise timeline for the audit. 

b. Appropriate Grant Funds for Capital Project Veterans Park- Interim Town Manager Jason Williams - Mr.
Williams stated this is one of the appropriated grants from the North Carolina Budget of $110,000 for
Veterans Park to be corrected and fixed and the LGC is voting on it, but wants the Board to vote on it as
well. Mayor Anthony stated this is taking the initiative to have the LGC start treating the Board as if they
have been released but have zero say on what is going to happen with this. Alderman Lackman
acknowledged Representative Lucas for allocating these funds and will discuss more options regarding the
park with the Military and Veterans Affairs Advisory Committee. Alderman Lackman also acknowledged Mr.
Williams, Steve Wing, and the City of Fayetteville for the coordination·of,this project. Mayor Anthony stated
this money was allocated to the Town in the 2021 budget, the yeanhe Board came into office, however,
the financial situation was a bit chaotic, and were not authorized to spend this,money. Mayor Anthony
stated until the finances are straight, the LGC is authorized tospend this money. Alder.woman Cooper asked
when is the public forum going to be held for this. Mayor Anthony asked Alderman Lackman if it was
December 14th. Alderman Lackman stated options are being discussed with the Military and Veterans
Affairs Advisory Committee, but looking around the December 201!l-timeframe. Alderwoman Cooper asked
if this was not going to be at a Board meeting. Alderman Lackman stated it would not be at a Board meeting,
but would be here in this room, which votes,would be done witli a marble. Mayor Anthony stated kind of
like the Board did with the Land Use Plan. Alder:woman Cooper stated there have been past issues with
committees having forums or taking in a vote outside a Board meeting'and wants to make sure the Board
is well within the rules. Attorney Porter stated if it is just.an informal information-gathering and not a final
vote, it should be fine. Alderwoman Cooper expresse9 her concerns bout putting the public forum in the
paper and stated it is almost�like it is the Board of Aldermen holding the forum. Alderwoman Thompson
stated she thinks it is just for the people involved and to get the community to come out, and not so much
as an official meeting or a forum. Alderwoman Cooper expressed her concerns again about putting the
forum in the newspaper and thinks people would get�confused with it being a Town-sponsored forum.
Mayor Anthony stated it is Town-sponsored. Alderwoman Cooper stated the Board and their forums are
one thing but a committee forum adver.tised in the paper is going to be confusing for people. Mayor
Anthony stated it is more of a community stakeholders' event and it is a Town function. Mayor Anthony
stated the Town is hosting the event and wants to solicit public input. Mayor Anthony asked how should
the Board how do they propose to mitigate this. Alderman Palacios stated he does not think people are
going to read the newspaper and the Board diverting this approval. Mayor Anthony stated whatever the
community says, that is what is to be seen at Veterans Park. Alderwoman Thompson stated for this to be
explained on social media, the website, and the newspaper that it is not a Board forum. Mayor Anthony
suggested a public stakeholder meeting or public input. Mayor Anthony requested the Clerk to research
how to word that this is not a formal vote, just public input.

c. Appropriate Grant Funds for Capital Prefect Cumberland County Recreation Service District - Interim
Town Manager Jason Williams - Mr. Williams stated the Town has had this money, which is $200,000, for
two (2) years but this was a great merger with the County. Alderman Palacios stated this merger has helped
the Town save money, especially with all the repairs that had to be done. Alderman Lackman explained
some of the funds which are $90,000 are for equipment, $30,000 for the installation of the new equipment
for the parks, and $50,000 for rubberized surfaces at the parks and stated this should be completed by June



7, 2024, depending on the weather. Alderwoman Cooper stated the Board decided this merger was a great 

decision but the LGC made the final decision to move forward with this. Mayor Anthony gave a cost 

comprehension for the playground equipment and why this was a good move for the Town. Alderman 

Lackman asked Mr. Williams if the rubberized surfaces included all parks or just Mendoza Park. Mr. Williams 

stated it covers all parks. Mr. Williams stated the Rex Perry sign has not been forgotten about and it is in 

the process of being worked out and the Police Chief is working on the sign for the Police Annex. Mayor 

Anthony reiterated that if any of the park equipment is unsafe, it will be removed and destroyed, and not 

moved from one park to another. Mayor Anthony stated there were repairs done at the Recreation Center 

as well. 

d. 2023-2025 Budget Appropriations - Interim Town Manager Jason Williams - Mr. Williams stated one of

these appropriations is for the 2023-2025 Budget for the natural gas lines to be extended throughout the

Town, computer systems, and the parks. Mayor Anthony stated the funds were just awarded to the Town

and acknowledged Senator Mcinnis and Representative Lucas for working hard for these appropriations.

Mayor Anthony stated another one of the appropriations is going towards Mutz berg Park, which is 39 acres.

Mayor Anthony stated the last appropriation is for Town software upgrades, and hopefully for an app for

Town residents. Mayor Anthony stated the appropriations would have to be adopted via Resolution and

then appropriate the funds into the Budget. Alderman Lackman expressed his excitement for these

appropriations.

e. Board Discussion Regarding When People Work - Mayor Kia Anthony - Mayor Anthony stated this

program is for funding for Veterans. When People Work provided an example contract with another

municipality. Mayor Anthony stated she has been trying to formalize opportunities to use this funding.

Mayor Anthony asked Mr. Sherrod Knox how much funding was available and Mr. Knox stated it was based

on their financial bankers. Mayor Anthony read a snippet from the VetBridge program, which helps with

mental health for Veterans and justice-impacted citizens to lower recidivism to provide opportunities.

Mayor Anthony stated she would like for When People Work and Habitat for Humanity to partner together.

Mayor Anthony stated Spring Lake has minimal resources to help with homelessness and possibly come up

with a transportation service to help transport the homeless to facilities until there is one here in Spring

Lake. Alderwoman Cooper stated the homeless have become more visible in Spring Lake within the last six

(6) months. Attorney Porter asked Mr. Knox to explain more regarding the payment structure as he knows

his company would provide the initial investment. Mr. Knox stated it is based on the savings after each of

the successes of the programs of how much the Town would have to pay back. Attorney Porter asked Mr.

Knox how the metric determined the savings as the Town does not provide all services for Veterans and

the homeless. Mr. Knox stated that would be determined during the contract and determines what
programs the Town wants to be active in. Mr. Knox explained how his company became interested in Spring

Lake and he is also familiar with the area. Alderman Lackman stated he would like to see where the priorities

of the Board lay whether it is housing, medical, or job preparedness. Mayor Anthony would like to survey

Veterans regarding these programs to see which areas they would like the Town to focus on. Alderwoman

Cooper stated she would like to have discussions with the Board regarding what areas to focus on such as

justice-impacted citizens and transportation. Attorney Porter stated to the Board that they should get

something more concrete before presenting it to the LGC. Mayor Anthony asked Mr. Knox how could the

Board start getting this more concrete and Mr. Knox stated to have another meeting to lay these items out,

including finances. Attorney Porter asked Mr. Knox did his company had any ideas for Spring Lake and he



stated yes, but would go with what the Town sees fit. Mr. Knox listed the areas of North Carolina where he 

has done these projects and what projects they were. Mr. Knox also explained how his organization was 

started. Mayor Anthony stated she challenges the Board to come up with some creative projects. Mayor 

Anthony stated the next conversation would be bringing in the LGC to keep this on the forefront. 

f. Board Discussion Regarding Habitat for Humanity - Mayor Kia Anthony- Mayor Anthony stated Habitat

Humanity presented at the last meeting and would like to bring Tiny Home and duplex projects to the Town.

Mayor Anthony stated conversations were discussed regarding the initial location, which was right behind

Town Hall, however, there were discussions to move the location and would discuss that in Closed Session.

Mayor Anthony stated they were going to do a mock-up for the Board to see what the project would look

like. Mayor Anthony stated there were two (2) options for the land, either the Town buys the land and sells

it to Habitat for Humanity at a low price or grants them the land. Mr. Williams stated this still needs to be

looked at and see which way to go, but is something that the Town should work for. Mayor Anthony stated

Habitat for Humanity to ready to move if the Town can secu_re tne land or parcel, even if that means bringing

in stakeholders. Alderwoman Cooper asked Attorney Porter if the Board is within the rights to sell land as

this has happened in the past. Attorney Porter stated something like Habitat of Humanity, yes because it is

for the public welfare. Mayor Anthony stated the Town's buy-in is,for"them to come and build the houses

for the Town. Attorney Porter fully answered Alderwoman Cooper's question by stating the Town can sell

land without going through the bidding process if it is for the- public welfare. Mayor Anthony stated

hopefully a stakeholder will sell the land to Habitat for Humanity, which would also provide the stakeholder

with an incentive. Alderman Lackman stated these proj�cts would bring in extra funding to Town finances.

Mayor Anthony stated the lifespan of a Tiny Home is 25 30 years, which adds stability and longevity. Mr.

Williams stated that Habitat for Humanity works with people who. want to buy the homes budget and tries

to get them in those homes. Alderman Palacios stated1he was glad that the initial location of the Tiny Home

projects was changed as it raised concerns for him and 1Alderman Lackman. Mayor Anthony stated the next

interaction with Habitat'of Humanity is them bringing the Board a mock layout of what the project would

look like and housing designs.

h. Board Discussion Regarding Election Cycle, Term Limits and Naming - Alderman Raul Palacios - First,

Alderman Palacios stated he would like to discuss moving the election cycle from odd-numbered years to

even-numbered years and this change could help the voter turnout for Spring Lake. Alderman Palacios

stated he is not proposing to do this but is biased about it and mentioned the pros and cons of this change.

Alderwoman Cooper stated she does not think the Town citizens would be happy about that being changed.

Mayor Anthony stated i{lstead of switching the years, try more voter engagement and find a way to increase

voter turnout, and is in favor of the term limit change. Mayor Pro Tern Chadwick stated she agrees with

Alderwoman Cooper that change would not be great and is not in agreeance, but thinks the Board needs

to get involved with more community engagement. Alderman Lackman stated it starts with the people.

Mayor Anthony suggested reaching out to some organizations that help with community and voter

engagement. Alderwoman Thompson stated she is always putting forth effort for transportation because a

lot of Town residents do not have transportation, which could also have something to do with voter turnout.

Alderman Palacios stated this can be tabled to an undisclosed date to see if there is any type of community

engagement regarding it. Second, Alderman Palacios stated the second discussion is changing terms of

office from 2-year terms to 4-year terms for future elections. Alderman Palacios stated he is not in favor of

staggered terms due to institutional knowledge. Mayor Anthony stated she is in favor of changing this as



two (2) is not long enough and there needs to be some stability in the Town's government. Mayor Pro Tern 

Chadwick stated she is not in favor because it does not allow fresh ideas for changes. Alderwoman 

Thompson stated she was in favor of this change. Alderwoman Cooper stated she was in favor of this change 

but did not want staggered terms. Alderman Lackman stated he is in favor of this change, but not staggered 

terms. Alderwoman Cooper stated to Mayor Pro Tern Chadwick a way to keep ideas fresh is by training and 

attending webinars. Mr. Williams stated he agrees with the Board about going from 2-year terms to 4-year 

terms. Mayor Pro Tern Chadwick stated for now she stands at staying at 2-year terms but will let the Board 
know if she changes her mind. Mayor Anthony stated this change would be cost-saving. Last, Alderman 

Palacios stated he wanted to discuss the style of the Governing Body from Aldermen to Commissioners, a 

gender-neutral term. Mayor Anthony and the whole Board stated they are in favor of this change. Attorney 

Porter stated there is a process and he can work with Ms. Autry on it and has spoken to Alderman Palacios 

about this, but the Board would have to modify or amend the Town Charter. Attorney Porter stated he does 

not think there is enough time to get it on the next regular session, but it can be done, or in the alternative, 

which would take two (2) years, it could be brought before the voters of the Town and let them decide, and 

a Public Hearing must take place. Mayor Anthony stated to try to get working on this so it can be taken to 
the Legislature for the short session for approval, and the local representatives have already been 

contacted regarding this and they are in favor of these changes. Mayor Anthony stated to do a consensus 

at the next meeting to give the Clerk authorization to start working on this and bring it back at the work 

session. Attorney Porter stated the Board does not have to wait to do a consensus, as they can do it now 

to give the Clerk authorization to start working on these changes. 

Consensus for the Town Clerk to start working on the proce_ss for the Charter change to change from 2-

year terms to 4-year terms and the name change from Aldermen to Commissioners. 

i. Discussion Regarding Draft Rules of Procedure- Town Clerk Carly Autry- Mayor Anthony stated the first

correction regarding the Rules of Procedure if the Board changes terms, is the 2 to 4-year term lengths, on

Page 1 under Introductions. Ms. Autry stated she did some research and on 6/22/20, the Board gave

consensus for the Board to start drafting Rules of Procedure and apparently, it was never done. Ms. Autry
stated she drafted the Rules of Procedure with the help of Alderman Palacios and will discuss what changes

will be made as Alderman Palacios also provided a draft. Ms. Autry stated she made a few minor

grammatical error changes but there were two (2) major changes she made if that is okay with the Board,

which the first was on under Rule 4. Agenda. Proposed Agenda., item f., she deleted 5:00 pm when the
agenda packets must be out. Ms. Autry stated the other major change was in Rule 25. Closed Sessions.,

item a. Motion to Enter Closed Session, she changed the examples of the two (2) Closed Session reasons to

all reasons allowed to enter Closed Session. Ms. Autry stated she will make all necessary changes if the

Board changes term lengths and title. Mayor Anthony stated she wanted to add remote participation in

Board meetings and read from Alderman Palacios' drafted Rules of Procedure and wanted to add a section

to the sealing of Closed Session minutes regarding Closed Session minutes being active to only active Board

members. Ms. Autry stated she would make the suggested corrections and will have it on the January 8,

2024, agenda for voting. Alderman Palacios thanked Ms. Autry for doing these Rules and feels it is important

to have these in place, as well as policies. Ms. Autry stated these Rules of Procedure eliminate extra work

for policies that may fall under the Rules such as a Closed Session policy or a Public Comment policy. First,

Alderman Lackman stated he wanted to add under Rule 4. Agenda. Proposed Agenda., item a. The Mayor
and the Board of Aldermen may meet or discuss the Proposed Agenda. Mayor Anthony stated she thinks









Attachment A 

On November 4th
• 2023 Spring lake Hosted a Veteran Service Officer Event at the Spring lake Recreation 

Center. Ideas+ Action = Results 

The idea began with an event to help Veterans with their VA claims. The action came from the Military 

and Veterans Affairs Committee putting this event together. The result was Veterans (young and old) 

getting the information and help they needed. 

Tonight, I want to recognize the organizations and Veteran Service Officers who participated in this event 

Mr. Robert Johnson, NC DMVA Regional Ill Manager, Fayetteville 

Mr. Tab Brown, Department Service Officer, out of Kinston 

Mr. Christopher Smith, American legion Post 32 out of Hope Mills 

Mr. Tony Forte, Chapter 46 DAV, Fayetteville 

Ms. Karmisha G Hernandez Luciano, Interim Assistant Director- TRiO Veterans Upward Bound Program 

Central Carolina Community College 

Mr. Christopher "Ranger" Mitchell, Cumberland County Veterans Treatment Court, Fayetteville 

VFW Post 4542 / 9103 / American Legion coming out and educating Veterans on what the VFW and the 

legion do in and for the community, Linda Richardson, George Reed, and David Dunlap 

Mayor, you talk about YOUR team, I have a wonderful team myself in The Spring Lake Military and 

Veterans Affairs Committee, with all the behind-the-scenes work and Armand Caron, Tim Baker, Kathie 

Turner, Irene Rosa, Robert Kennedy. Interim Town Manager, Jason William, Town Clerk Carly Autry, and 

Banard lemon for developing the flyer and pushing the information out to the public. I must give a special 

thanks to the Mayor and BOA for the unanimous support to approve and host this event for All Veterans. 

This is the first time we have done this type of event in Spring Lake since 2018. 

Veterans Day Ceremony. November 10. 2023 

What needs to be said other than "Thank You" to all those that put it on! Thanks to ALL who showed up 

and "Thank You" to our Veterans and their families! By now, most of you have seen the pictures on social 

media! I want to give a "Special Thank You" to the Appearance and Sustainability Committee for reaching 

out to the Military and Veterans Affairs Committee to do a Joint Ceremony of the mural unveiling and 

combining it with the Veterans Day Ceremony! This was the key (and Dr. David Dickerhoff dreaming big) 

to make this happen. Mayor, you talk about Dreaming Big .... This was HUGE!!! 

Thank You Ronald Lee Wolfe for capturing such wonderful pictures and sharing them with us! 



I was going to talk about the election, but the citizens said it all. Thank You! 

Upcoming Events 

Military and Veterans Affairs Committee meeting - Tuesday, November 28t�, we will be discussing 

Veterans Park, holding elections, and planning for 2024. We will not be meeting in December. I think this 

awesome group has earned a little time off... 2024 we will be planning Memorial Day, A Suicide Awareness 

Event, Veterans Day, and maybe a few other events, you will have to come out and see what is going on 

in our MVAC. Again, the public is invited and welcome to attend. We meet on the 4th Tuesday of each 

month at 630 PM here at Town Hall, Grady Howard Conference Room. 

Christmas Tree Lighting Ceremony- December l 51
, right here at Town Hall. Still looking for a group of 

carolers to back up Alderman Palacios 

Wreaths Across America will have their annual laying of the Wreaths at Sandhills Veterans Cemetery on 

Saturday, December 16, 2023. The Wreaths will be stored behind Town Hall and will be transported from 

Town Hall to the cemetery. Anyone with a truck and trailer who would Uke to participate in transporting 

the wreaths or the laying of the wreaths is welcome! More information to follow, but the date is Saturday, 

December 16th
. 



March 25. 2024 

Town of Spring Lake 

Work Session Meeting of the Board of Aldermen 

Municipal Building 

300 Ruth Street 

Spring Lake, NC 28390 

MINUTES 6:00 pm 

The Spring Lake Board of Aldermen held a work session meeting in the Grady Howard Conference 

Room of the Spring Lake Municipal Building with Mayor Kia Anthony presiding. 

Board Members Present: Mayor Pro Tern Sona L. Cooper 

Alderwoman Robyn Chadwick 

Alderman Marvin Lackman 

Alderman Raul Palacios 

Alderwoman Adrian Thompson 

Others Present: 

Tiffany Anderson, Local Government Commission 

Carly Autry, Town Clerk 

Kendra Boyle, Local Government Commission 

Banard Lemon, Audio Visual Coordinator 

Michael Porter, Town Attorney 

Lieutenant Danny Sutton, Spring Lake Police Department 

Lieutenant Gregory Wilkerson, Spring Lake Police Department 

Jason Williams, Spring Lake Fire Chief/Interim Town Manager 

1. Call to order

Mayor Anthony declared a quorum and called-the meeting to order.

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance

Pastor Saffold gave the invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance.

3. Additions or Deletions

Mayor Anthony requested to add the LGC Financial Update New Business, item c.

4. Approval of Agenda

Action: Approval of the Agenda with the addition of the LGC Financial Update under New Business, item c.

Motion by: Alderwoman Chadwick

Second by: Alderman Palacios

Vote: Unanimous





b. Fire Department Eliminating Sleep Pay Re-vote -Mayor Kia Anthony-Mayor Anthony stated the Board

is redoing the motion for clarity, as it had the same issue as the Police Department motion.

Action: The Board approved a motion to approve the elimination of sleep time for the Fire Department 

effective March 25, 2024. 

Motion by: Alderwoman Thompson 

Second by: Mayor Pro Tern Cooper 

Vote: Unanimous 

9. New Business

a. Ordinance No. 2024(1) Declaring a Road Closure for the Unveiling of Wall Art Mural - Alderman Raul

Palacios -Alderman Palacios stated this project is going to be put up in April on the Sip and Paint building,

and that piece was awarded a grant from the Fayetteville Cumberland County Arts Council to the Greater

Sandhills Chamber of Commerce of $15,000. Alderman Palacios stated they worked with the Town's

Appearance Committee to finalize the selections for that wall, and this road closure for Main Street on

Saturday, May 4, 2024, for the dedication, which is on Main Street from Spring Ave. to Johnson Street but

does not think that whole section is needed. Alderman Palacios stated the artist is Carol Curry of Fayetteville

and she will be soliciting volunteers from the community to help paint the mural. Mayor Pro Tern Cooper

asked since the whole section to be closed off is not needed, does the Ordinance need to be changed? Mr.

Williams stated no, just close the section needed.

Action: Approval of the Agenda with the addition of the LGC Financial Update under New Business, item c. 

Motion by: Alderman Palacios 

Second by: Alderwoman Chadwick 

Vote: Unanimous 

b. Board Discussion Regarding Evaluation Forms and/or Schedules for Town Attorney, Town Clerk, and

Town Manager- Mayor Pro Tern Sona L. Cooper - Mayor Pro Tern Cooper stated the Board had previously

discussed what forms to use for evaluating those who report to the Board and those positions are the

Attorney, Manag�r, and Clerk, and wanted to get these forms finalized to discuss when to start

implementing them, and maybe even a schedule so the Board could start some type of procedure in place.

Mayor Anthony stated the forms were finalized just no set schedule for doing them. Town Clerk Carly Autry

stated the forms emailed to the Board were the finalized forms. Mayor Pro Tern Cooper stated the Board

needs to set a schedule af'.ld start putting this into place. Mayor Anthony asked Mayor Pro Tern Cooper if

she would like to suggest a schedule. Mayor Pro Tern Cooper asked the Board how often did they want to

go with doing the evaluations. Alderwoman Thompson suggested quarterly and several Board members

had feedback regarding quarterly so Mayor Anthony had to remind the Board to use their lights so they do

not over-talk where the audience cannot hear and so it does not interfere with the minutes. Mayor Pro

Tern Cooper asked Mr. Williams how often does the staff conducts evaluations and Mr. Williams stated

once a year. Mayor Anthony asked the Board if they were okay with once a year. Alderman Lackman stated

he thinks part of this may come down to the evaluations versus kind of a counseling type of session where

you inform the employee how they are doing, and where they stand but annually an evaluation technically

is done. Mayor Anthony asked Mr. Williams if he had an employee evaluation schedule or if it was on a



specific schedule. Mr. Williams stated yes, which starts in October as it must be done for the new year, but 

there is also a self-evaluation that is pushed around the March/April timeframe so employees can set their 

own goals of what they need to work on and then there is something to go by six (6) months later the 

regular evaluations. Mr. Williams stated he would get a copy of the self-evaluations for the Board. Mayor 

Anthony suggested to the Board to jump on the schedule the staff is already on and have the self

evaluations completed by the Attorney, Clerk, and Manager by October and start the employee evaluations 

in November. Alderwoman Chadwick stated she was going to suggest the same thing regarding the 
employees doing a self-evaluation, as she thinks those are beneficial. Mayor Pro Tern Cooper asked if this 

was the schedule the Board was going to adopt to do the self-evaluations in April and the employee 

evaluations in October and wants to make sure this schedule is on record. Mayor Anthony asked Attorney 

Porter if adopting this schedule was something that needed to be voted on and Attorney Porter stated no. 

Mayor Anthony stated this will be put under consent items on the next Regular Meeting agenda so the 

Board has formal acknowledgment of the schedule. 

c. LGC Financial Update, Kendra Boyle. Local Government Commission - Ms. Boyle provided Financial

Reports to the Board that came out of the Town's software system, including a compilation for the General

Fund. Ms. Boyle first addressed the questions that were submitted to her by Alderman Palacios. First, Ms.

Boyle stated there was a mistake on the first page of UNAUDITED where it states % of Budget Used, it

should read % of Budget Received for Revenue. Second, Ms. Boyle stated the Fund Balance Appropriated

of $414,000 was made up of $120,000 for Town Hall's new roof, which was an unexpected expenditure

that was paid for with the Town's Fund Balance that was available to be used from previous years, and the

other $294,000 is open purchase orders from the prior fiscal year, which were obligated in fiscal year 2023

that were not paid by June 30, 2023, so they had to be appropriated into fiscal year 2024 to legally pay

those. Ms. Boyle stated there is a Section 18 in the Budget that allows for amendments to be made to put

open purchase orders or encumbrances into the next fiscal year. Third, Ms. Boyle verified the Town received

57.91% of Revenue through January 31st and expended 48.99%, of which 60% is made up of property taxes

and real personal property. Fourth, Ms. Boyle stated that Alderman Palacios pointed out the fact that the

Inspections Department has brought in over $32,000 more than expected for the year and asked if this was

a one-off or if this was something to be expected. Ms. Boyle stated this was due to the increase in fees and

the housing development in the Town. Fifth, Ms. Boyle gave a breakdown of dues and subscriptions paid

out of the Governing Body stating it is currently at $45,000 thus far. Ms. Boyle stated an amendment had

to be done for $35,000 to the North Carolina League of Municipalities (NCLM) for dues that had not been

paid in multiple years, as well as the School of Government (SOG), annual memberships related specifically

to Mayor Anthony and Mayor Pro Tern Cooper, and Town memberships such as the Chamber of Commerce

and the Mayor's Coalition, all totaling up to $45,000. Sixth, Ms. Boyle addressed why there were so many

Budget amendments from the original adopted Budget Ordinance and the amended Budget. Ms. Boyle

stated that was due to the $294,000 that had to be brought over as those were all expenditures that had

to get recorded from that $120,000 for the new roof, $75,000 for the anticipated sale of some Capital
assets, and the expenditures that were going to be funded with that sale of Capital assets. Seventh, Ms.

Boyle stated Alderman Palacios asked about the Finance Department and she stated the Finance

Department has spent almost 76% of their total annual Budget due to the contracted services. Ms. Boyle

stated there is an anticipated Budget amendment that should take place on April 2, 2024, that will be

presented to the LGC to increase the Budget for the Finance Department by $167,000, of which $153,000

is paying for the payroll services and the other $14,000 to pay for the Budget and 2022 Audit work by Greg



lsley's group. Last, Ms. Boyle addressed the water and sewer fund regarding how often the Town is billed 

by PWC and Harnett Water. Ms. Boyle stated the Town is billed and those are paid monthly but the actual 

expenditures plus the encumbered take up 100% of the Budget because they are previously encumbered 

for the Budget. Alderman Palacios asks Ms. Boyle the following questions during her presentation: 1) who 

oversees the water set-offs? Ms. Boyle stated that based on the presentation given by the Revenue 

Supervisor at the last meeting, she thinks it would be her. Alderman Palacios asked who should it be and 

Ms. Boyle stated that should be information that is provided to Finance, Finance then probably processes 

that information and submits that to file to debt set-off, but if not, some segregation of duties needs to be 

put into place. 2) Alderman Palacios asked who should be following up or taking charge of this over-million

dollar number that is on the books. Ms. Boyle stated that depends on how it has been done in the past. 

Alderman Palacios stated it does not stand like it should be the LGC based on Ms. Boyle's answer but 

Revenue has not acted on it, so is this something Finance should be doing? Ms. Boyle stated someone needs 

to take ownership. 3) Alderman Palacios stated he was unofficially told that ARPA funds were used for the 

roof repairs and asked Ms. Boyle if that was true or not. Ms. Boyle stated the Budget amendment that was 

done was to use Fund Balance and whether that Fund Balance exists because of some type of ARPA 

Revenue replacement taken in the prior year, that may be the case, but it was not recorded in the ARPA 

project fund. Mayor Anthony asked Mr. Williams to address this question. Mr. Williams stated Alderman 

Palacios and Ms. Boyle were correct to a point because the term of ARPA money no longer existed and it 

was moved into the Fund Balance. Ms. Boyle stated that money was used for expenditures that did not 

have to be paid out of other sources and when .that money was left over, it fell into Fund Balance and could 

be used. Alderman Palacios asked if all the ARPA money wa� gone and is now in the Town's Fund Balance 

and Ms. Boyle stated yes. Mayor Anthony stated that is what the revenue replacement was for with the 

amount received, the Town was allowed to take the-entirety of that money and put it into the Fund Balance. 

Ms. Boyle stated the revenue replacement ARPA money is but there is other money that is ARPA related 

that is sitting in a different fund, and not the General Fund. 4) Alderman Palacios asked Ms. Boyle if the 

$294,000 for the open purchase orders was money that was unused in the prior fiscal year. Ms. Boyle stated 

she does not think unused is the correct term. Ms. Boyle stated it was obligated in the prior year but not 

yet paid for the prior year, so therefore, it was not an expenditure that occurred in the prior year that was 

expected to be, so it fell into the Fund Balance but still had to be paid the next year. Ms. Boyle stated the 

open purchase orders were for Communications for computer software, the Police, Fire, and Streets 

Departments. Ms. Boyle briefly mentioned what those open purchase orders were and Mr. Williams gave 

explanations of what they were. First, Mayor Pro Tern Cooper stated in a financial update that it was 

reported that $200,000 of outstanding balances were current accounts but in the Revenue Supervisor's 

presentation, she stated a lot of those were current water bills, and Ms. Boyle stated that could have been 

the case because she saw her presentation and understood what she was saying that they could have been 

bills that just dropped, I believe on the 18th, so that could have been a good portion. Second, Mayor Pro 

Tern Cooper asked how can the Board find out what is really outstanding, how to ensure they do not stay 

outstanding for long periods, and how to write it off. Ms. Boyle stated that would be something that would 

have to be worked with in conjunction with management to make sure that those get written off. Ms. Boyle 

stated on the financial statements, that they would be written off but would remain on the accounting 

records in case something came in to pay against them, but would remain there. Last, Mayor Pro Tern 

Cooper asked Ms. Boyle if the Town should have a DSO number and Ms. Boyle stated that is what some 

units of local government do as they set that in their water and sewer department. Mayor Anthony 

expressed to Ms. Boyle that she would like to see a more streamlined report so the Board and the public 



could understand it more and be easily read. Ms. Boyle explained how she generated her reports for the 

Board but it working to get a more streamlined accounting system, but it is a work in progress. Mayor Pro 

Tern Cooper asked Ms. Boyle if she could tell the Board what the current Fund Balance is and if the Town 

received money from the Legislature or Budget for account software. Mayor Anthony stated the Town 

received a $250,000 direct appropriation from the State Budget for software. Ms. Boyle asked if the Board 

wanted to use that money for accounting software and Mayor Anthony stated she did not want to make 

that type of decision without consulting with the Manager first. Ms. Boyle stated she does not have audited 

financial statements so she does not know exactly what the Fund Balance is at this time, but since the LGC 

assumed financial control, the Town has only added to the Fund Balance. Mayor Anthony stated the Board 

does have a general idea as they receive monthly statements stating the Town's Fund Balance and the 

investment accounts. Ms. Boyle stated that is cash and it does not state what is restricted because some of 

that money can only be spent on certain things. Mayor Pro Tern Cooper asked if the reports received include 

those monies, like what is in investments, restricted or unrestricted. Ms. Boyle stated she cannot tell what 

is restricted or unrestricted without an amount of accuracy because there are no audited financial 

statements, but the balance in the Town's investments account is around eleven {11) million but some of 

that is restricted. Mayor Anthony stated the Board used to receive those before and would like to see that 

back. 

Ms. Boyle stated in regards to the increase in pay for the Police Officers, it is in the Budget Ordinance that 

anything over 5% must be approved by the LGC so this Resolution that was passed tonight for the Police 

pay and the Sleep Time, is something the LGC must approve, so it cannot go into effect yet. Ms. Boyle stated 

the Sleep Time calculation is going to require a Budget amendment, which she does not have to take to the 

LGC on Tuesday, April 2, 2024. Mayor Anthony asked Mr. Williams when this was previously discussed was 

this brought to his attention. Mr. Williams stated no, but he has had some discussions with payroll. Ms. 

Boyle stated she did not know there were any discussions of the change in Sleep Time calculations until she 

watched the March 11, 2024 Board meeting and based on the calculations that she received from Debra 

Mack about how much over time would result in the Sleep Time calculation change and there is not enough 

money in the Budget for Fire and Manchester Fire for what is estimated it will cost for the rest of the fiscal 

year. Mr. Williams stated he spoke to Debra Mack about this previously but never heard anything back 

stating there was no money in the Budget for that, however, when he did the calculations, there was money 

in the Budget, but there must be some disconnection somewhere. Mr. Williams stated there are lapsed 

salaries that can be used. Ms. Boyle stated for eight (8) pay periods, it is estimated to cost $36,000 for Fire 

and $29,000 for Manchester Fire and that is with benefits, however, Manchester Fire is short $12,000. Ms. 

Boyle stated she did not know about the 20% increase for the Police Department until she heard it discussed 

at the March 11, 2024 Board meeting. Mr. Williams stated that Debra Mack was the one who did the paper 

for the increase and this was well before the March 11, 2024 meeting. Ms. Boyle stated she thought this 

was only being discussed when she was copied on an email from February 28, 2024, but she and Mr. 

Williams have not discussed these increases. Mr. Williams stated that is correct because everything had to 

go through Debra Mack first who he thought was going to explain it to the LGC. Mr. Williams stated funds 

were available for the Police Department but never received anything back stating there were no funds for 

the Sleep Time calculations. Attorney Porter asked if this information was provided in the financial packets 

provided to the Board tonight and Ms. Boyle stated no, it was provided to the Interim Town Manager by 

Debra Mack last week. Ms. Autry provided Attorney Porter with an email thread that was taking place 

between Debra Mack and Paula Stewart during the Board meeting regarding the increases. Mr. Williams 



stated he would submit a Budget amendment if that is what he needed to do, and there may have been 

some miscommunication as he should have spoken to Ms. Boyle directly while this discussion was taking 

place. Attorney Porter stated this just needs to be fixed and work together on better communication. Mayor 

Anthony stated processes keep changing, so please send out any changes regarding the process via email 

so the steps can be followed correctly. Mayor Anthony asked Ms. Boyle what are the next steps to get this 

passed. Ms. Boyle stated the finances of the Town are under the control of the Local Government 

Commission (LGC}, so when there is a change needed to the Budget between departments, a request could 

be made to the LGC to make that amendment and bring it to the Board and that has been the process since 

the get-go. Ms. Boyle stated the Board does not have the authority at this time to make a Resolution 

regarding these changes and a request to the LGC to vote on this would have to be done. Mayor Anthony 

asked Ms. Boyle to clarify the steps of getting this done. First, Ms. Boyle stated a conversation between 

management and the LGC staff about what it is that is being proposed. Second, Ms. Boyle stated 

calculations with Finance to give to the Board, as well as the LGC, informed information regarding numbers 

about how much this is going to cost in the current year and the next fiscal year so everyone is making an 

informed decision. Third, Ms. Boyle stated the Board says this is what they would like to do and makes a 

request to the LGC to take a vote. Fourth, Ms. Boyle stated the Board does the Resolution. Fifth, Ms. Boyle 

stated the Board takes the Resolution to the LGC requesting this so the LGC can have the Budget 

amendment that is needed for the request. Last, Ms. Boyle stated the LGC takes a vote. Mayor Anthony 

stated that is now on record regarding the process. Mayor Pro Tern Cooper stated on Monday, March 11, 

2024, the Board took a vote on this and it came back to the Board stating the motion was done improperly 

and asked who said that. Ms. Autry stated Debra Mack is the one who said the motions were vague and 

they needed to be done again to specify language but there was never anything in those emails stating the 

LGC had to approve anything over 5% and she forwarded all conversations between her, Paula, Debra Mack, 

and Lt. Wilkerson. Mayor Pro Tern Cooper asked Ms. Boyle why was nothing ever mentioned to the Board 

because there should have been no reas9n to even put this back on the agenda if this was not the correct 

and why wait until the Board did all of this to say something. Ms. Boyle stated Section 15 of the Budget 

Ordinance that was passed in July states that salaries are set in accordance with the salary schedule and 

adjustments to salaries that exceed 5% are not permitted without Governing Board approval. Ms. Boyle 

stated the Governing Board for finances is the Local Government Commission (LGC) and the Interim Town 

Manager is very aware that he does not have the authority to make any adjustments to salaries of more 

than 5%. Attorney Porter stated the Board is not disputing that is what it says, the Board is disputing that 

the calculations were timely communicated and the frustration is that they knew this was going to take 

place tonight before they walked through these doors tonight and could have pulled someone aside stating 

there is an issue instead of just sitting there watching the Board have a vote and then say it was wrong. 

Attorney Porter stated it is not good communication and makes the Board and the LGC staff look bad. Mr. 

Williams stated he completely understands the 5% but is he wrong for thinking that he must get the Board's 

approval to be able to do this before he brings it before the LGC? Ms. Boyle stated the Local Government 

Commission (LGC) would consider making the Budget amendment due to the request of the Board and it 

was not worded as a request, it was worded as this is what is going to happen. Mr. Williams stated he had 

to get the Board's approval to make sure they understood then it was going to get turned back over to the 

LGC. Mr. Williams stated he is confused by this process but will get with Debra Mack and the LGC staff to 

get things figured out. Ms. Boyle stated she was under the impression the Board realized this when there 

was a quote in the newspaper that this all had to be approved by the LGC. Mayor Anthony stated the LGC 

is in control of the Town's finances and she stated Ms. Boyle stated she watched the March 11, 2024, and 



asked her if she saw something done wrong, please not expect the Board to get information from the 
newspaper, it is as simple as an email saying please remove this because the process was wrong. 

d. Mayor's Report - Mayor Kia Anthony - First, Mayor Anthony briefly mentioned the lunar eclipse. Last,
Mayor Anthony stated on Wednesday, March 27, 2024, is Lunch with the Mayor at Ruby Tuesday at 12
noon

e. Board of Aldermen Report -Spring lake Board of Aldermen - Mayor Pro Tern Cooper stated she had
nothing to report but mentioned that she went to Mountaire Farms on Saturday, March 23, 2024, to pick
up some Easter boxes to distribute to people in the community, specifically 50 families in the community.
Alderwoman Thompson wished everyone a happy and enjoyable Easter. First, Alderman Lackman stated
applications for the Banner Program are due by Friday, April 12, 2024. Second, Alderman Lackman stated
the Military Veterans Affairs Committee is tomorrow night, Tuesday, March 26, 2024, at 6:30 pm, here in
the Boardroom. Last, Alderman Lackman stated to bring aluminum cans to the can collection point by the
Fire Department, as the money goes to the burn children's fund. First, Alderman Palacios stated this
Saturday, March 30, 2024, at 10:00 am, is the Easter Egg Hunt at Mendoza Park. Last, Alderman Palacios
stated the Earth Day Clean-up is Saturday, April 20, 2024, at the Spring Lake Recreation Center starting at
9:00 am, which is sponsored by the Town with the help of Sustainable Sandhills. Alderwoman Chadwick
stated she has no report at this time.

f. Manager's Report -Interim Town Manager Jason Williams - First, Mr. Williams stated Veteran's Park is in
the process of getting some work done such as putting up flags, locating the heads for the irrigation system,
and putting dirt down. Last, Mr. Williams stated Fayetteville Cumberland County Parks & Recreation is
ordering new play equipment for Mendoza Park and the Town is taking down the old play equipment.

g. Town Attorney Report- Town Attorney Michael Porter-Attorney Porter thanked Alderwoman Chadwick
and Alderwoman Thompson for attending the Cumberland County Bar Association Annual Gala.

9. ADJOURNMENT

Action: There being no further business to come before the Board, Mayor Anthony adjourned the meeting
at 7:12 pm.

ATTEST: 

Carly Autry 
Town Clerk 

Kia Anthony 
Mayor 



All informat,on p,ov,dod on this appl1cat1on is public information end ma}' be sharod with others 
upon request 

The Town of Spring Lake 

APPLICATION FOR COMMITTEE on DOAnD 

�ppearance and Sustain:ibility CommittecO 
:J Military and Vrterans Affair$ Committee O Special Ennts Advisory Committee,

0 

Do you live inside the tov,,n limits of Spring Lake? ./,... -f:rYes ., No 

Ate you currently seiv,ng 011 a Board/Committee or the Town of Spnng Lal'.e? 0Yes ,A No

If so. wnat cs Ille nam.<,, ol1he Board(s)ICMw,lr.eeia,



Are you currently employed? 0 Yes Jl No 

E"1)1oyer 

Employer's Addresa 

JollTrtle 

Desc<11bon or Job dutoe• 

Board or Aldermen Appointment U Yes D No 
Date: __________ _ 

Term o{ Appointment· ______ _ 

Signature of Town Clerk. ________________ _ 





Fayetteville Observer 

Public Notices 

Originally published at fayobserver.com on 04/12/2024 

TOWN OF SPRING LAKE 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC 

HEARING PROPOSED CHARTER AMENDMENT 

ORDINANCE 

The public will take notice that the Board of Aldermen of the Town of Spring Lake will 

conduct a Public Hearing at 5:30 pm on Monday, the 22nd day of April 2024, at 300 

RuthStreet, Spring Lake, concerning a proposed Ordinance amending the Charter of the 

Town of Spring Lake, as set forth in Chapter 670 of the 1951 Session Laws of North 

Carolina, as amended, to change the length of terms of the Mayor and the Board of 

Aldermen of the Town of Spring Lake Board of Aldermen from two years to four years and 

to change the title of Aldermen to Commissioners. 

Carly Autry 

Town Clerk 

Publication Dates 

L00000000 



Board of Aldermen Agenda Cover Sheet 

Meetina Date 
April 22, 2024 

Item Title 
Discussion Regarding Town of Spring Lake Policies 

Presenter 
Mayor Kia Anthony 

Summary/Description 

Aaenda Location 
New Business 

Updating needed and outdated policies and personnel guidelines in the Town of Spring Lake can ensure 
compliance with current laws, promote efficiency, enhance transparency, improve employee morale, and 
reduce legal risks. It can also help align the Town's practices with modern standards and address any evolving 
needs or challenges within the organization. 

Please note: The (3) policies attached will undergo legal review and are being provided for review and 
discussion. These policies also state Board of Commissioners based on the Town Charter change to be 
tentatively adopted on Monday, May 13, 2024. 

Requested Action 
Other - Discussion 

Fundina Source (If Applicable); 
N/A 

� N/A Yes □ No 181 

Additional Documents to be Included in Aa=eoda Packet 
Policies per Fiscal Accountability Agreement 
Policies per the FY21-22 Budget Public Hearing 
Draft Article IV. Finance and Revenue; Taxation 
Draft Policy 43. Financial Policy 



LOCAL GOVERNMENT COMMrSSION 

STATE AND LOCAl GOVERMENT 

FINANCE DIVISION 

)HARUN tlJMUNUSUN 

DEPUTY TREASURER 

5. By February 1. 2023 - Update or develop. with qualified Manager oversight, written
polices for 

a . Ethics and Conflict of interest
b. Asset Management and Use of Town Assets
c. Revenue Receipt, Recordation and Deposit
d. Accounts Payable and Disbursement
e. Travel
f. Purchasing Procedures and Bidding Requirements
g. Fund Balance
h. Human Resource





PART II • CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 2 • ADMINISTRATION 

ARTICLE IV. FINANCE ANO REVENUE; TAXATION 

ARTICLE IV. FINANCE AND REVENUE; TAXATION 

DIVISION 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Sec. 2-195. gjsl111FSeffleAI af fuAd&, Purpose of Article 

The purpose of this art cle is to provide for a system of financial administrat on, accounting. fisca, and 
budgeta,y control which conforms lo general accepted account·ng princ pies and conforms to the local 
Government Budget and Fiscal Contro, Act. The finance off cer is authoriled to disburse funds subject to the 
prov,slons of the Local Government Budget and Fiscal Control Act. The responsibility for the proper execution of 
the provisions of this art cle shall be with the Mayor except where the responsibility Is explicitly given to the Town 
Manager officer, finance dir .. ctor, or the Board of Aldermen 

(Code 1978, § 2.41: Code 1995, § 36.01; Ord. of 1-22ji99Ell.. ----------�� Commented IJR1]: Need to insert updated code language 

Sec. 2-196. Cosigning of checks. 

All checks on any offlclal depository shall bt 1lgned by tlle town manager or finance officer, er tile de11t11\ 
fiAaAee effieer and the mayor or mayor pro tern. 

(Code 1995, § 36.02; Ord. of 1-22-1996) 

Sec. 2-197. Definitions. 

In the fiscal control system of the town, the following terms shall have the respective meanings and 
applications ascribed to them: 

Accrual basis means a method of 11<countmg that recogn zes the financial effect of transactions, events, and 
inter-fund actrVlties when they occur, regard ess of the timing of related cash flows. 

Appropriation means authorization granted by the mayor and council to make expend tures or to Incu• 
obligations for specific purposes. 

Appropriation balance mea,ns an unencumbered balance of appropriation o, al otment and an une•pended 
balance of appropriation or allotment. 

Asset means real ard personal property of all kinds of government, ncluding both current assets and fi-ed 
assets. 

Audit means the exam nation of records, documel'lts, reports, systems of internal control, account ng and financial 
procedures, and other evidence for one or mo re of the following purposes 

(l) To ascertain whether the statements prepared from the accounts present fa rty the f nancial post on 
and the results of financial opera! ons of the constituent funds and balance account groups of the 
governmental un·t in accordance with generally accepted accounting pr ncip es app ·cab e to 
governmental un ts and on a basis consistent with that of the preceding year; 

(2) To determine the propriety, legality, and mathematical accuracy of a governmental unit's findnc al 
transactions; 

(3) To ascet1a n whether all financial transactions have been properly recorded; 1nd 



(4) To ascertain the stewardship of public offic als who handle and are responsible for the fnancial 
resour"s of a governmental unit, 

Balance sheet means a statement ordinar ly prepared from books kept by double entry showing assets, 
liabilities, reserves, and surp us of a fund of a governmental un t at a specified date properly c ass if ed to exhibit 
the financial postion oft he fund or unit at that date. 

Budget means a p an of financia operation embodying an estimate of proposed expend tures during a 
budget period and t�e proposed means of financing th em. 

Budget period means th� period for wh·ch a budget is proposed or a budget ordinance or reso ut on is 
adopted. The annual budg�t refers to a period of one year called a fiscal year. 

Budgetary control means the control of management of a governmental un t n accordance w th an approvo,d 
budget and keeping e1pendctures within the limitations of available appropriations or revenues. 

Cosh basis means the basis of account ng that recognizes tran,actions or events when related cash amounts 
are received or c1·sbursed 

Contingent account means an appropriation to prov de for unforeseen expenditures. 

Credit roting s a measur;,ment of the town's ab lity and ntent on to fu f II financ,a obi gations 

Current surplus means th� excess of the current assets of a fund over Its current liabilities and reserves. 

Debit and credit are terMs Co'llmon'y used to indicate the manner in which a transaction is to be recorded. 
Every entry on the ,:,ft sde of !he ledger sheet is called a "debil." Every entry on the rights de of the ledger she4't 
s c.illed a "creel t 

Debt service means l•·e amo\ml of money necessary annual y to pay the pr nc,pal and nterest on the town's 
outstanding long-term debt. 

Delinquent taxes means taxes remain ng unpa'd on and after lhe date on which a penalty for nonpayment s 
attached. Even though the penalty may be subsequentiy waived and a portion of the taxes may be abated or 
ca nee ed, the unpa;d balances continue to be def nquent taxes unt•I abated, canceled, or converted into tax iens. 

Encumbrances means commitments of approprlat ons related to unperformed (executory) contracts for 
goods or services. 

Fund means a r,scal and accounting entity with a self balancing set of accounts recording cash and other 
f nanc al resources, 1ogelher with all re ated liabi'ities and residual equihes or ba ances and changes therein, which 
a,e segreg ated for the purpose of carrying on spec fie actlv,t es or atta n ng certa n objectives in accordance with 
spec al regulalions, restnctio�s. or Imitations. 

Internal audit means an audit made by persons on the staff of the governmental un t whose accoul'lls are 
be,ng audited pr mar,ly for Ole purp<ise of internal control, Note· An internal audit is usually a continuous aud I 

liaMit1es means debts awed-

Modified acc,ua/ bos,s means' .e basis of accounting according to which_ 

(0 Revenues are recogs,zed 1n the accounting period in which they become available and measurallle, and 

(2) Expend tures are recog� zed in the account ng period n which the fund iabil ty is incurred, if 
measurab e, except for unmatured interest on general ong-term debt and certain s mi ar accrued 
obi gat,ons, wh.c:h should be recognized when due. 

Toxes receivoble means the uncollected portion of taxes which a governmental unit has levied. 

Trust funds means amoJnts received or appropriated and he d n trust in accordance wilh an agreement or 
leg s ative a�t which may be expended only in accordance with the terms of such trust or act. 

P•ge2ol18 



Sec. 2·198. Appropriation transfers from certain funds restricted. 

No appropriation transfer shat be made from a sinking fund or debt retirement fund unt I a I the legal 
obligations and requirements of such fund have been satisfied 

(Ord No 992, § 1, 1-21-2010) 

Sec. 2-199. Modified and full accrual basis of accounting. 

To the extent poss'ble, the modified accrual bas·s of accounting shall be used by governmental fund types s,;i 
that revenues are recogn zed when they become susceptible to accrual; tnai ls when they become "measurable" 
and "availab e to finance expenditures of the current period," and so that expenditures are recognized when the 
related fund tlab llty is incurred. The tu I accrua bas s of accounting shall be used by enterpr ses (business-type 
fundsf so that the financia effects of transactions, events, and inter-fund activities are recogn·zed when they 
occur. regardless of the timing of related cash flows 

(Ord. No. 992, § 1, 1-21-2010) 

Sec. 2·200. Financial statements and reports. 

Financial statements and reports showing the current conditions of budgetary and proprietary accounts shaJ 
be prepared and presented to the Mayor and the Board of Commissioners and counc I at least quarterly Not late, 
than�i�months after the close of the fiscal )'lar, a com@rehensive annual financial report covering..!!...!unds and -----{commented (JRZj: 1�/160 compliance 
financial operat ons sha I be prepared and pubEshed. 

(Ord No 992, § 1, 1-21-2010) 

Sec. 2-201. Annual audit, 

A I the funds, accounts, and f[nancial tcansacrons of the town shat be subJected to an annual audit by an 
rndependent certified publlt accountant who Is to be 1tlected by the Mayor and Board oJ Commissioners. The 
audit sha! be conducted accord ng to the standardsset forth In the American Institute of Certified Publ c 
Accountant's publication, "Audits of State aJ)d Lotal Ciove<nme�tal Units ' 

Secs. 2-202 -2-230. Reserved. 

DIVISION 2. BUDGET 

Sec. 2-231. Budget-Time of adoption annually; submission of proposed budget; balance 

required. 

An annual budget w,11 be adopted by the Board of Commiss one rs prior to the first day of the I seal year. 
However, if for good and sufficient reasons the budget cannot be adopted by the first day of the fiscal year, the 
budget sha I be adopted not ate, than 45 days subsequent to the beg·nning of the fiscal year If the budget is not 
adopted pnor to the beginning of the fscal year, a resolution authorizjng the con1onuat on of necessary and 
essentla expenditures to operate the town in an nterim budget shaU be adopted prior to the beginning of the 
f seal year. The proposed budget sha, be prepared by the town manager and transmitted to members of the Board 
of Commiss oners for its review no ater than June 1 and a minimum of 30 days before the required date of 





each non-departmental expense and for each fund covered by the budget. Amendments to the budget sha I be 
approved by the Board of Comm ssioners 

At least 10 days pr or to the adoption of the budget, a not'ce of the adopt on shal be p aced in the regal 
organ. The notice shall be a prominently d sp ayed advert sement or news article and shall not be plac�d in that 
section of the newspaper where legal notices appear 

Sec. 2-237. Same-Amendments. 

Any increase in total appropr ations in a departmental budget or in a non-departmental expense category, 
whether accompl shed through a change ,n anticipated revenues or th•ougl\ a transfer of appropn"ations among 
departments and non departmental expenses, shall require the approval of the mayor and council in the form of 
an amendment to the budget ordinance resolution, The transfer of appropriations among the various accounts 
within a departmenta budget or wthin a non-departmental expense category sha I only requ re the approval of 
the financial services d rector, except that any transfer of appropria1ions within a departmenta budget so as to 
ncrease the sa ary appropr"at,on for the purpose of employing add� onal personr!!!i'sha I require the approval of 
the Board of Commlss,oners 

Secs, 2-238-2-250. Reserved. 

DIVISION 3. FUNDS 

Sec. 2-251. Funds-Enumeration. 

The follow ng funds may be established and shat be used as necessary to provide for the proper account ng 
of all financial actMties of the towM 

(1) Gtneral fund, to account for all financial resources e�cept those requ' red to be accounted for In 
another fund, 

(2) Special revenue funds, to account for the pro«eds of specific revenue sources (other than for ma1or 
capita' projects) that are lega'ly restricted to e,1penditure for speo lied purposes

(3) Debt servicefur.ds, to account for the accumu ation of resources for, and the payment of, genera long• 
term debt principal and ntertst. 

t-�I Capitol projects fu11ds, to account for financia resources to be used for the acquisition or construction 
of major capita tacit tres and equipment (other than those fnanced by proprietary funds and trust 
funds) 

{S) Permanent funds, a fidueiary fund type used to report resources that are legal y restricted to the extent 
that only earnings, and not ptincipa , may be used for purposes that support the report ng 
government's programs - that is, for the benef t of the government or �s c rzenry, 

(6l Enterprise funds, a propr etary fund type used to report an activity for which a fee s charged to 
externa users for goods or services 

Fl Internal service funds, a proprietary fund type that may be used to report any activity that prov des 
goods or services to olher funds, departmen11, or agenc·es of the prmary government and ·ts 
component units, or to other governments, on a cost-reimbursement basis 



(8) Fiduciary funds, to report assets held in a tr,,stee or agency capacity for others and wh ch therefore 
cannol b� used 10 support the government 1 own programs The fiduciary category includes pension 
[and other employee benef,ul trust funds, nvestment tru1t funds, private-purpose trust funds, and 
�ency funds. 

(gHUle OQ�, S Is I U �OlOj 

SK. 2-252. Same-Bank accounts, 

Bank111g relat onsh ps estab ,shed by the town for all loans, regular check ng account services, and pens on 
investments and adrrinistralion must have prio, approval by the Board of Comm ssioners. The Town manager or 
designee may approve bank·ng relat onships to, �her i<l\lestments permitted by state law 19 C..<O.A. �It &;J 4� 
(NCGS 159-30) 

ro,il t.10, 99'l, § 1. 121� 

Sec. 2·253. Same-Self-balancing group of accounts. 

A complete self-balancing group of accounts shall be established and maintained for each fund used Th s 
group of accounts shall nclude all general ledger accounts and subs diary records necessary to reflect compl anct 
with fega provisions and to set forth the fnancial position and the results ol 1he financial operations or the fund. 

�Q ••· �I• 99�. § I, J .N ;ll)Klf 

Sec. 2-254. Same-Additional accounts. 

Add tional accounts, as follows, shall be maintained 

11, F xed assets account for the purpose of account,ng for tho� as,e1s that are of a ta1tg1ble nature, h.l� 
a hie longer than one fiscal year, and have a slgnlficani value (or 'have a va ue of $5,000.00 or 
greater•). Fixed assets shall be recorded at the original cost and shall be removed from the account 
when disposed of. Fixed assets shall be depreciated based on procedures set torth ·n Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASBl Statement No. 34. As an e"ception, all real property shall be 
recorded irrespective of va ue or orgina cost. 

(2) A general long-term debt account for the purpo$e of accounting for long-term debt wh,ch is supported 
by general revenues and for recording and fairly representing the liab lily for ong-term debt at any 
t me from the date of issuance unti the debt is retired. 

Secs. 2-255 -2·265. Reserved. 

DIVISION 4. PURCHASING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

Sec. 2-266 PURPOSE ANO SCOPE. 

(A) Purpose Th s purchas ng po ,cy wa� deve oped n accordance with the requirements of G.S. 143 Artcle 8, 
wh·ch requires procedures embodying sou1d princ,ples or appropr;ately compet,tive procurement su tab e for the 



unique needs of the town, wh ch has a decentralized purchasi'lg policy. This purchasing pol cy wm gu de town 
employees and the public in the process and procedures for procurng goods and serv ces required by the town 
and its various departments These policies will help ensure the fa r and equitable treatment of all persons who 
desire to do bus ness with the town by selling its goods or serviots, and will help maxim ze the purchasing value of 
public funds and provide safeguards for maintaining a purchasing s�stem of qua ity and integrity 

(B) Scope. This policy appl es to the purchasing of any materials and supplies, equipment, professional and 
contractual serv ces, or construction contracts. 

Sec. 2-267 DEFINITIONS. 

For the purpose of this subchapter, the following definitions shall apply unless the context 

clearly indicates or requires a different meaning 

"ADDENDA" or "ADDENDUM.• Addifona requ rement", specifications, or instructions to the original request for 
bids, requests for proposa s, request for quotations, requesl for qualifications, or other solic"tatlons All contents of 
the addendum are Incorporated into the origina document. 

"ARCHITECTURAL, SURVEYING AND ENG NEERING SERVICES," Contracts performed by private consulting firms as 
agents of the town, Including, but not lim ted to, feasib"lity studies, p ann'ng, design, testing, and ,onstruction 
administration or management servrces m11St be se'ected on a qual fication basis with fees determined by direct 
negotiation 

"BIDDER." Any person or other validly const luted legal entity submitting a bid or responsive proposal m 
response to a request for a publicty funded project or service seeking the award of a public contract or subcor'ltract 
with the town. 

"BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS." The Board of Commissioners of the Town of Spring Lake is the governing bod1 of 
the town, 

·BUSINESS." Any sole proprietorship, corporatlOn, limited hab,1,ty company, or other legal entity wh ch is, or wm 
be if awarded a bid, h�nsed to do business in the jurisdiction where the work w·11 be performed or the service 
provided 

"COMMODITY.• Any tangible good, ware, or article of merchand se that is moveable in trade or commerce 

"CONTRACT."• An agreement entered into voluntarily by two or more parties, with the intention of creating 
mutual legai obi gations over a defined period of time, ,n the case of the town, contracts must be in writing, 
supported by valuab'e cons·deration, signed by an authorized representative of the town, and capable of being 
performed within the current budget year, unless a longer period of performance s approved by the Town 
Manager or Board of Comm,ssloners. IJom the town's perspect ve, the contract is a legally bmd ng document, 
which specifies and defines tne performance requirements and expectations from a vendor for a purchase or 
project procured by the town or an� of its departments Time is of the essence n contract performance by a I 
vendors. 

"CONTRACTOR.· The person, firm, partnership, jo nt venture. corporation, or other va 1d y constituted legal 
entity, that has entered into a contract with the town to provide gnods or perform a service of any type with the 
town. 

"DISCRIMINATION." An action or series of act vitles that sets apart or causes separate and unequal treatment of 
a person or group of persons solely on the basis of his or her race, co or, national or gin, religion, sex, age, 
d'sabirty, sexua orientation, or any other status In violation of any law proh biting such conduct, Illegal acts of 
d1scr mination by a vendor, its servants, agents, or employees, are prohibited n the performance of proiects for 



the town, and depend ing on the seriousness of the co-tduct, ,n the town's sole discretion, may be grounds lot 
term nat on of a contract without penalty to the town. 

"FORMAl BID." Procedure whereby competitive wr tten, sealed b ds are solicited through customary means ,n 
connection with the awarding of contracts for the procurement of certa· n apparatus, suppl es, materials, and 
equipment, the est mated costs of which exceed a base amount spec ified elsewhere n this purthasing po ·cy. 
Forma b ds must be advertised in a manner best selected to reach the w dest aud"ence of qu"! lied bidders, 
including v a emai to a b  dder's I st, or by public post ng Newspaper advert sing may be used ,t determ·ned by the 
department head or Town Manager to be a cost-effective method of reach ng potent al t>dders. Bids shaN be 
subm tted ,n a sealed enve ope, opened n public at the appo 'nted time, and recorded :n the purchas ng records of 
the town department soliciting the b,ds. Once opened. these bids are publ c information, except for any parts 
designated as proprietary informal on or trade secrets by the b dder The town, acting through the Town Ma�ager 

determ ines , in its interpretation of applicable law, whether any part of a bid is protected from d:sclosure as 
propr etary information or as a trade secret or must be released as public In formation, but t�e town accepts no 
lega duty to keep any bid information private. 

"GOOD FAITH " A I activit es are conducted honestly and ethical y and with the observance of reaso�ab'e 
municipal standards of fa r dealing. 

"PROPOSER." Refers to each firm that subm·ts a proposal for consideration by the town n compha"N;e with the 
requirements stated in the request for b"ds, reguest for qualifications, request for proposals, or request for 
quotafons. 

"PURCHASE ORDER (PO)." Created from a purchase requ sit on, this is a document subm Ued to a vendor or 
contra.tor requesting the purchase of specified goods and/or serv ces for a specified unit price, w th a total 
amount for the order. and when accepted as submitted, const tutes a contract between town and ven.clor or 
contractot. 

"PURCHASE REQU SITION OR REQUISITION MA request from a town department to obta;,, spe�if1c goods or 
serv,ces, the cost of which has been prov·ded for in the department's budget 

"QUOTE" or "QUOTATION." A quote or quotation IS defined as a price that ,s mai ed, faxed, or e-ma iled 1hat 
locludes the folio., ng· (1) company name, (2) sa esperso-, or representative's name, 13) telephone and fa� 
number; 14} itemi1ed unit pr'ces; (5) delivery date; and 16) total cost including tax, handling, and de Ivery �harges 

MR ECURRING COST.· Purchases made on a regular or rep et tive bas,s for the ma ntenance of town services 
and/or property 

"REQUEST." Genera ly includes a request for b'ds, request for proposa s, request for quotatlons. request for 
qualif catit,ns. or other sol citaNon 

"REQUEST FOR BIDS, REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS, OR REQUESTS FOR QUOTATIONS " Formal procedure for 
obtaill ng bids, proix;sa s, or quotat ons for apparatus, supp ,es, materials, equ pment, and commod ties. 

"REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS " formal procedure ror requesting wrjtten qua 1fications from ji(ensed providl'H 
of professional services, such as architects, engineers, surveyors. attorneys, and cert tied public accountants for 
specifed services to be rendered to the town over a specif ed per,od of time. 

•sPECIFICATIONS.• The parameters, requ,rements, and in�tructions that def ne the part·cu ar tern or service that 
s sought by a department of the town and prov des the bas s for comparing bids Specificat,o'ls are gen er ally 
incorporated nto a contract by reference, to become the sutcesslu• bidder's ega obligatr.)ns under the contract, 

"STATE PURCHASING." Group purchasing serv·ce prov ded by the state whereby various commodities and 
services have been bid out by the state and qua fied vendots se ected who provide these Items to the town at low 
un t prices that reflect the volume discount negotiated by the stale for the beneft ot al publ c bod es ,n the state 

Page 8 of 18 



"SUBCONTRACTOR." Any qua ified person or legal enMy named by a gl'neral contractor, and approved by the 
town to perform work or provide serv ces under the supi'rvision and control of the general contractor for a public 
contract with the town 

"TERM CONTRACT." A lorma agreement between the town and a designated vendor(s) to provide an dentifed 
commodity upon request at an estab ished pr ce, and for a specified term. 

"TOWN MANAGER." The Town Manager of the Town of Spr ng Lake. 

"VENDOR." See def nit ion of "CONTRACTOR." lnd1v1dual or other val d'y constftuted legal entity, which sel s 
commodities or serv ces to the town pursuant to a cont,act wilh the town, or through state purchasing or other 
approved group purchas ng organ zatlon. 

Sec. 2-268 PROCEDURE. 

(AJ The town operates with a decentral zed purchailng system E�ch department prepares requisitions and bids 
for goods and serviees under tht guidet"nes found here n. The Finance Director supervise,, as dire�ted by the Town 
Manager, the purchas ng funct on for the town. 

(B) The objectives of this procedure are being adopted h order to; 

(1) Conduct business w,th ntegrity, fairness, and dign ty so as to maintain the public trust; 

(2) Secure the right materla s, equipment, and serv"cM at the right quality and quantity, on a timely basis, as 
tfficiently as possible, and at the best value; 

(3) Conserve public funds by obta nlng the best products �nd services for the dollars �pent or al ocated to the 
e•Jense; 

(4) Provide all customers wilh quality service n a manner that is courteous, responsive, accessible, and 
seamless; 

(5) Mainta n continuity of supply to support ongo·ng service, operations, and schedules, 

(6) Furnish tfmely information to management and appropriate departments cover ng market conditions and 
trends, and the probable effect on supply and price; 

(7) Assure vendors that impartial and equal treatment Is afforded to all who wish to do bus ness with the 
town, 

(8) Secure compet1t1ve prices on purchases, 

(9) Establish specfficat ens that will encourage compet,fon and accurately describe the equ pment, mater al�. 
and services needed; 

(10) Be receprve to changes ln_materia[ and requ·rements a ong with new products and procedures; and 

(11) Promote the use of local contractors and purchas·ng, along with the employment of Spring 
Lake/Cumberland County citizens. 

{Res. U QQ;, ��••e1U J& U 1 •"' Q•� I a 0;1;8, �H�UI ) 24 � 

Sec. 2-269, ETHICS. 

(Al Ethieal «induct. 

-------{commented (JR3): Insert new dates ) 





entities, by entering into an ntergovernmental agreement with the other governmental ent ties. The purchasing 
laws. ordinances, and policies of each entity will be considered in the intergovernmental agreement. Part;clpatlon 
1n state purchasing, as set forth above, does not require such an agreement. 

(2) Whenever the town enters into an intergovernmental agreement for a joint project with the federal, state, 
or another governmental entity, including, but not limited to, a county, regional council of governm,•nts, specia 
purpose district, special tax district, state authority, joint district, or public university, then the purchasing practices 
of the other pubhc entity may be used in lieu of the town's own procedures if the use is determ ned to be to the 
advantage of the town. 

(0) Cert ficate of insurance. 

(1) Contractors, vendors, and professional se,vice providers contracted by the town, prior to commenc•ng any 
work under a contract with the town, shall be required to provide a duly e•ecuted cert ficate of ·nsurance 
certify ng to the town that the contractor, vendor, or professional service provider has in effect workers 
compensation coverage valid in South Carolina and covering the workers who will be perform ng the work for the 
town, Certificates of general liability coverage and motor vehicle coverage may be required, as well as errors and 
om·ssions insurance or professional liability insurance, as required by the town. Certificates contain ng wording 
that would release the insurance company from liability in the event of non-notifi�ation of the town of any 
cancellation of the insurance pol,cy shall not be acceptable, Policies shall be endorsed to nc ude a waiver of 
subrogation against the town, its officers, officials, agents, and employees. Separate endorsements shall be 
requ red, naming the town as additional insured, for liability Insurance and providing a waiver of subrogation for 
worker's compensation insurance. 

(2) At any time, if any insurance policy, performance, or payment bond required by the town s canceled 
before the completion of the contract, then al work shall cease until an insurance policy or bond acceptable to the 
town 1s once again provided, including gap coverage The Town Manager or his or her des1gnee(s) may waive the 
certificate of nsurance for professlonal services, but only when the tack of proof of the coverage w II likely have no 
significant impact upon the town, 

(3) Insurance coverage limits and requirements on contractual items shall be as set in the bid spec fications. 
the ,nvitat1on for bid, or the request for proposals 

(E) Business licenses. Any company, per1or>, contractor, or vendor operating within and conducting business 
with, or on behalf of the town shall obtain a business license from the town. 

(F) Women and minority buslness enterprises 

(1) It is town policy to provide m norities and women equal opportunity for participating n all aspects of the 
town's contracting and procurement programs, inctud ng, but not limited to, employment, construct on proJects, 
and lease agreements consistent with the laws of the State of North Carol na. 

(2) It is further town pol,cy to conduct its contracting and procurement programs so as to prevent 
discr,mination and to resolve any and all claims of d1scrim1nat,on 

(G) local purchasing preference. 

{1) It 1s town policy to promote the use of loca businesses when possible Local contractors and vend011 
with a valid business llcense from the town (for a period of at least one year from the date that bids are so icited) 
will have a 10% advantage unless otherwise authorized by the Town Manager or his or her designee(s) 

(2) Selected contractor s must make every reasonable effort to purchase/lease all mater al, equipment, 
and supplies associated with the awarded bid to a local business with a valid business license issued by the town 

(H) Levels of authority. 

{1) Any purchase of supplies, materials, equ pment, or services not exceeding $500.00 may be made 
with the approval of the department head, 

Page 11 of 18 





() Contracts that relate to regular y purchased supplies, equipment, chemicals, or services to be used In or 
/or the d rect benefit of the town's uti it es, as they now eKlst or may exist in the future, 

(J) Leasing of real property for governmental use, 

fk) Purchasing through state purchasing, 

(I) Membersh p fees,

(ml Purchase or sale of property usecl for the purpose of economic deve opment

(2) At the discretion of the Town Manager or his or her designee, a decision may be made to requ·re 
competit ve sea ed bods or other so ·citation methods, notwithstand ng the above po icy. 

(3) A sole source purchase may be macle without competitive bidd ng when the finance Director or employee 
afforms, ,n wr t ng, that there s only one source for the requ'red supplies, materials, equipment, or services. 
Written documentation must indude the cleterm nation and basis for the proposed sole source purchase In cases 
of reasonable doubt that there is only one such source, com pet tive bidding must be solicited. Any decls"on by the 
purchaser that a purchase be restricted to one vendor must be accompan ed by an explanat,on as to why no other 
vendor Is suitable or acceptab e to meet the needs of the town, 

(4) Emergency purchases may be author zed by the Town Manager or his des1gnee(s) when there exists an 
Immediate threat to publ c health, welfare, critlca, economy an._d efficiency, or safety under emergency conditions, 
without following this purchasing po'icy, A written determination of the basis for the emergel'ICY and for the 
selection of the part,cular contractor or vendor shall be forwarded to the Town Manager within frve business days 
for review and retention 

jJ) Bid procedures 

(1) The prov,s ons of the purchasing policy gover11 the competitive bid process and may be implemented 
ttwough a request for b ds, request for proposals, request for quotations, request for qualificat ons, or other 
soltcitat1on procedures fpr formal b els. 

(2) Public notice of the invitation for bid shall be g,ven not less than 15 calendar days prior to the bid openinJ 
date larger non•recurring purchas�s or projects may require additional notice before bid opening. Such notice 
shall be given, at a mtnimum, through the town·s website and/or the local newspaper and to persons and firms 
who have asked to be placed on a bidder's list for a particular commodity or service. Email or fax notifications to 
interested potential bidders shoulcl be used to the extent possible to minimize the notification costs to the town 

(3) The lnvitat,on for bid documents shall Include specifications and all other contractual terms and conditio'ls 
applicable to the purchase The invitation for bid sha I set forth the evaluation criteria to be used. Each 
department/division sha I ma ntain a bidder's list for those interested in submitting bids, or who have submitted 
bids in the recent past, and a vendor's list for a I purchases awarded 

(4) All bids received J)lalr be kept 'in a secure location and shall remain unopened until the announced time O'I 
bid opening. Bids shall be opened public'y in the presence of one or more witnesses, at the time and place 
designated In the Inv talion for bids,.The amount of each bid, the name of each bidder, and other relevant 
information shall be announced and recorded by the department head or his or her designee. The record ancl bid 
tabulation shal be open for pubhc ,nspectI0n after the bids are opened and maintained as a public record of the 
department in accordance with record retention policies 

(5) Contracts sha I be awarded to the lowest responsible bidder, The following items shall be considered when 
evaluat ng the responsibi ity of the owest respons ble b dders, 

(a) The ab lily, capacity, and sk II of the bidder to perform the contract or provicle the service required n 
compliance with specificat ons; 

(bl The ab;lity of the bidder to perform the contract promptly or within a specified time without delay or 
interference; 

Page 13 of 18 





( 10) Requests or other sol citations through the competitive bid process may be canceled when ,t ·s in the best 
interest of t he town. Th s act on should be supported with internal documentat,on suffoc•ent to sat sfy external 
audit and shall be made a part of the project fie 

Illes. U QQ�, "''""'<I 1 � Ui *"' Ood I� QH, t!'OIM.'4-Nlil H, *•"'· Gr1I. �g�� Qi§, 11asse.<I & U 231 

Sec. 2•271. Disposing of personal property valued at less than $500.00. 

(a) The town manager 1s authorized, pursuant to G.S. 160A-266(c), to dispose of any surp[us property owned by 
the town, whenever he determines, in his discretion, that: 

(1) The item or group of items has a fair market value of less than $S00,00; 

(2) The property ,s no longer necessary for the conduct of public business; and 

(3) Sound property management principles and f nanclal considerations indicate that the interests of the 
town would best be served by disposing of tht property. 

[bl The town manager may dispose of any such surplus personal property by any means that he judges 
reasonably calculated to yield the highest attainable sale price in money, opporturi.ty cost, or other 
consideration, including, but not limited to, the methods of sale provided in G.S. 160A, art. 12. Such sale may 
be public or private, and with or w,thout notrce and minimum waiting per,od. 

[c) The surprus property shal be sold to the party who tenders the h'ghest offer, or exchanged for any property 
or services to the town if greater value may be obtained in that manner, and the town manager is authorized 
to execute and deliver any app"lcable title documents. If no offers are received within a reasonable time, the 
town manager may retain the property, obtain any reasonable available savage value, or cause it to be 
d"sposed of as waste material. No surplus property may be donated to any lndividual or organization except 
by resolut"on of the board. 

(d) The town manager shall, on or before February 1, report in wrltlng to the board on any property disposed of 
under these provisions from July 1 through December 31 of the previous year, and shall, on or before August 
l, report in writing to the board on any property disposed of under these provislons from January 1 through 
June 30 of that year. The written report shafl genera11y describe the property so'd or exchanged, to whom ,t 
was sold, o, with whom exchanged, and the amount of money or other cons,deratlon rece·ved for each sale 
or exchange since the tast such report wai submftted 

(Code 1978, § 2.42(b); Code 1995, § 36.11; Ord. of 1·22-1996) 

Secs. 2-272-2-285. Reserved, 

Page 15 of 18 





the provision in each retail short-term lease or rental agreement stating that the percentage amount enacted 
by this division of the total lease or rental price, excluding sales tax, is being charged as a tax on gross 
receipts. The amount of the tax shall be stated separately from the lease or rental and shown separately on 
the taxpayer's records. The tax shall be paid by the customer to the taxpayer as trustee for and on account of 
the town. The taxpayer shall be liable for the collection thereof and for its payment to the tax collector, and 
the taxpayer's failure to charge or to collect said tax from the customer shall not affect such liability. 

(di Report and payment of tax. Taxes levied under this division are due and payable when a return is required to 
be filed. Every taxpayer shall, within the time specified, submit a return to the tax collector on the form 
prescribed by the tax collector. A return must be signed by the taxpayer or the taxpayer's agent. Returns of 
taxpayers are due to the tax collector each month on or before the 15th day of the month following the 
month in which the tax accrues. As provided in G.S. 160A-208.1, a return shall not be considered a public 
record, ar1d information contained in a return may be disclosed only in accordance therewith. 

(el Taxpayer to keep records, The taxpayer shall keep ar1d preserve suitable records of the gross receipts 
received by such taxpayer in the conduct of business and such other books or accounts as may be necessary 
to determine the amount of the tax for which such taxpayer is �able under the provisions of this division. It 
sha be the duty of the taxpayer to keep and preserve for a period of three years all such records of gross 
receipts and other books and accounts described. All records, books, and accounts-herein described shall be 
open for examination at all reasonable hours during the day by the tax collector or h

0

ls duly authorized agent. 

(I) Tax collector to provide forms. The tax co lector shall de$ign, prepare, print, and make available to all
taxpayers operating w',thin the municipal boundaries of the town forms and instructions for filing returns to 
ensure a full coUect'ion of and accounting for taxes due. The fai ure of any taxpayer to obtain or receive forms
shall not relieve such taxpayer from the payment bf the tax at the time and ,n the manner provided.

(gJ Situs, The transaction giving rise to the tax herein tev,ed shall be deemed to have occurred at the location of 
the entity from which the customer takes delivery of the vehicle. 

(h) Penalties and remedies. The provisions with respect to remedies and penalties applicable to subchapter VIII
(local Government Sales and Use Tax) of chapter 105 of the General Statutes, as contained in article 5 and 
article 9, subchapter 1, cliapter 105 thereof, shall be applicable in like manner to the tax authorized to be 
levied and collected under this ord'nance, to the extent that the same are not inconsistent with the 
provisions hereof. The board of aldermen of the town may exercise any power the secretary of revenue may 
exercise in collecting sales and use taxes.

Cit Administration. In addition to the provisions herein, the levy and collection of the taxes herein imposed shall 
be otherwise administered in the same manner as the saltis and use tax as ptovided in artlde 5, subchapter 
1, chapter 10S of the General Statutes. 

(Code 1995, § 36.30; Ord. of 8-28,2000, §§ 1-9) 

Secs. 2-288-2-295. Reserved. 

Sec. 2-222. ,Violations 

{a) Th s sect·on is adopted pursuant to the prov sions of G.S. 160A 175 

(bl Th,s d,v,s,on may be enforced by any appropriate equitab:e act'on, includtng, but not ,m ted to, ,njun.:tion 
and abatement, in addition to any other remedy ontaine erein, 

(c) The owner, lessee, tenant, or occupant of any building or land or part thereof and any arch.tect, bu''der,
contr ctor, agent, or any other person who participates on, assist,, directs, creates, or maintains any s ua on

Page 17 of 18 

____..-- Comm■nt■d (JR5): This section needs to be located -7 
"somewhere else" in the municipal code. j 



{di 

that s •ontrary to the provisions of th·s division may be held respons1bh! for the v olati1m and suffer the 
pena ties and be subject to the remedies 11rovided here;n 

Each day that any violation continues after not ficat•on by the enforcing inspector that such vio at ion exists 
shal be cons dered a separate offense for the purposes of pena fes and remed es as specif ed n th s section. 
,. person who v o ates any of the provis o;,, of this d vis·on shal be subject to a cov, penalty, fol.owing 
notif cation, In the sum'of!._$50.00 on the fir,t day and $100.00 for ever day thereafter until the via aron s_�- -
remedied The town, ·n a civ I action, shall recover the penalty f the offender fails to pay the pena ty to the 
Finance Director, Town of Spring lake, 300 Ruth Street, Spring Lake, NC 23390-0617, within ten ca endar 
days after being cited for the vI0 ahon. The c,v,I act on of recovery shall be in the nature of an action to 
recover a debt and sha'I ,nclude as an add tional sum to be recovered the full costs of the act on, including. 
bu• not hmited to, filing, sen, ce, and attorney fees. 

(el Av elation of this div sion may not be appea ed to the board of adjustment if the offender did not perfeq an 
appeal to the sa d board of adJustment within the ten-day t,me penod set forth herein, 

(f) In the event of a zon,ng violation, when the enforcing nspector finds tha1 any provis on of this div sIon Is 
being violated, the enfor•ing inspector shall cause to be served upon the offender or its agent, by certif eel 
ma·1, return receipt requested, or by personal senitce, a notice of c v,I citat on. The notice of civil ctafon 
shall indicate the nature of the violat on and order the action necessary to correct t When the penalty 
'ssued is the result of a zoning v olat1on, the citation sha I a so state the monetary pena ty and the right of 
the offender to appea' the vio ation that is the basis of the c talion to the board of adjustment w thin the 
time per od set out for payment of the c"tat on, 

(gl In the event the offender fies notice of appeal to the board of ad1ustment 01,thin ten day! from the date of 
service of the c tation, the appeal shall stay the collection of the pena ty so mposed as wel as the corrective 
act,on prescribed ,n the c tat o•·,. Appeals to the board of adjustment sha I be adm1n ste•ed as provided in 
section 42 368 but for the t me for perfect ng the appeal, which shal be the ten days as hereinbefore stated. 

(hi Notwithstand ng the forego ng, In cases where de ay wou d seriously threaten the effect,ve enforcement of 
this d,v,s,on or pose a danger to the pubic health, safety, or welfare, the enforcing inspector may seek 
enforcement of th s d vis on without pr,or written notice by nvok ng any of the pena ties or remed es herei� 
authorized. 

U Nothing n this sect on shall preclude the enforcement of th s d v;s on pursuant to the provisions of G.S. 14-4 
where appropr ate 

(Ord of 11,24 1993, Ord of 10 8·2001, § 36.30] 

Secs. 2-223-2-252. Reserved. 

Page 18 of 18 

Commented [JR6J: These fines need to be updated 
tons slent with current state law, What is maximum penalty 
for each day of a continuing offense? 



Town ADMINISTRATIVE & SUBJECT: 
of FINANCIAL POLICIES FINANCIAL POLICY
Spring Lake Number Revisions Board Approval Date

43
North Effective Date Page
Carolina 1 of 13 

43.0 OBJECTIVES 

The Town of Spring Lake has enacted the following policies as a basis for the Town's 
routine financial practices associated with the preparation, adoption, and execution of
the Town's operating and capital budgets. Thei primary objective is to provide a
standard of budgetary performance that both staff and Board of Commissioners have
endorsed and to provide budgetary decision-making with greater continuity,
reinforcing the Town's core financial values and preserving them for successive staff
and Board of Commissioners.

Regular, updated budget policies can be an important tool to ensure that Town
resources are used to meet its commitments, provide needed services to the citizens of
Spring Lake, and maintain sound financial management practices. These policies are
therefore guidelines for general use and allow for exceptions in extraordinary
conditions.

These policies have been approved by the Town Manager and have been adopted by
the Town Board of Commissioners. The Budget Policies of the Town will be 
reviewed annually and can be adjusted at any time by action of the Town Board of
Commissioners.

A. To align the Town of Spring Lake's ("The Town's") long-term financial planning with
stiort-term daily OJ?erations. 

B. To maintain the Town's stable financial position \ C. To ensure the Board of Commissioners adopted policies are implemented in an efficient,
effective, and cost-conscious manner while continuing to ensure compliance with
contractual and statutory requirements. 

D. To protect the Town from an emergency fiscal crisis by ensuring the continuance of
service even in the event of unforeseen occurrence.

43.1 OPERATING BUDGET 

It is the Town's policy that the operating budget be prepared in accordance with Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles in the absence of a fiscal crisis. The Town's top program
priority is the maintenance of existing service levels in all divisions and departments. To reflect
this, the budget process should include the calculation of baseline funding levels for all
departments, reflecting current staffing, and inflationary increases in supplies and service

1 









For continuing contracts, funds will be appropriated in the annual budget 
ordinance to meet current-year obligations arising under the contract, in 
accordance with G.S. 160A-17. 

2. Non-Profit Funding:

1. The Town will review the financial position of nonprofit corporations or
organizations receiving funding to determine the entity's ability to carry out
the intended purpose for which Town funding was granted.
2. Funding for community projects, programs, and services may be provided
to public agencies and to non-profit community organizations, for one-time
community, social, environmental, cultural, or recreational needs that serve a
lawful public purpose. Funding requests must be submitted in writing to the
Town Manager funding by April 15 of the fiscal year.
3. Funding levels for community projects, programs, and services shall not
exceed 1 cent of revenue from the ad valorem tax.
4. For organizations receiving $1,000 or more in any fiscal year, the Town
may require the nonprofit to have an audit performed for the fiscal year in
which the funds are received and to file a copy of the audit with the Town.

3. Reserves/Fund Balance shall maintain the following fund balances (reserves)
in all governmental-type funds.
a. Non-spendable - to establish-balances that cannot be spent because

they are in a non-spendable form (i.e. inventories, prepaid amounts,
long-term loans, notes receivables, or property held for resale).

b. Restricted - to establish balances constrained for a specific purpose
through restrictions of external parties (i.e. creditors, grantors,
contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments) or by
constitutional provision or enabling legislation. These balances may
include monies from loans, grants, and donors, particularly in those
governmental fund types normally other than the Town's General
Fund.

c. Committed - to establish balances constrained for specific purposes
imposed by, formal action (ordinance or resolution) of the Town Board
of Commissioners and shall include all funds not designated as non
spendable, restricted, assigned, or unassigned. These funds will be for
the specific purpose of establishing a revenue stabilization fund to
provide, resources to cover anticipated and unanticipated revenue
shor;tfalls in subsequent years. If available, committed reserves shall
also be used to replenish the unassigned reserves to the minimum 31 %
level should they fall below that level.

d. Assigned - to establish balances to be set aside by Town management
to fund a projected budgetary deficit in a subsequent year's budget as
adopted by the Town Board of Commissioners.

e. Unassigned - remaining amount that has not been classed as non
spendable, restricted, committed, or assigned that shall remain equal to
or greater than thirty-one percent (31 %) of the "Total Uses of Funds"

5 





43.4 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 

A. Capital Improvement Plan

1. The Town will update and readopt annually an eleven-year capital
improvement plan ("CIP"), including the upcoming annual capital
improvement budget ("CIB") and a ten-year projection of capital needs and
expenditures which details the estimated cost, description, and anticipated
funding sources for capital projects. The plan will include costs that have
been estimated including consideration for inflation. The inflation rate will
be determined annually in the budget process and �II be disclosed in the
capital budget report.

2. The first year of the eleven-year CIP will be the basis of formal fiscal year
appropriations during the annual budget process. If new project needs
arise during the year, a budget amendment i9entifying both the funding
sources and project appropriations will be utilized to provide formal
budgetary authority for the subject projects. The Capital Improvement
Budget and Plan will generally address those capital assets with a value of
more than $25,000 and a useful life of over three (3) years.

3. The Town will emphasize preventive maintenance as a cost-effective
approach to infrastructure maintenance. Exhausted capital goods will
be replaced as necessary.

4. Restricted revenue sources will be utilized whenever possible before
unrestricted sources.

5. Capital projects. The Town shall adopt and operate under a project-length
balanced budget for each capital proJect fund in use by the Town. The
project-length balanced budget shall be adopted by resolution in the year that
the project initially begins and shall appropriate total expenditures for the
duration of the capital project. Following are the guidelines to be used for
ran�ing capital projects for inclusion in the Town's capital budget:

a. Capitai Project Ranking Criteria:

Core Projects: Projects that must be funded and meet one of the following 
criteria: 

• Critical to remedying or preventing a major health/safety hazard (e.g.
sewer line problem, sink-hole in roadway, or other failing
infrastructure)

• Legally mandated ( e.g. DOT and EPA standards - especially if fines
for non-compliance)

• Essential to completing a project phase (e.g. complete construction of
a building partially funded in a prior period)

Essential Projects: Projecls that are essential in order for the Town to 
provide services (ranked in order of importance): 

• Positive Fiscal Impact - the project creates revenues or identifies
savings in excess of the project cost and is justified by a cost-benefit
analysis

7 



• Outside Agency Grants • Projects recommended by the state and/or
county development authorities that are expected to provide economic
benefit to the community (job creation, tax revenue. etc.)

• Facilities/Equipment Maintenance or Replacement - a maintenance or
replacement program essential to avoid a predicted failure in the near
future

• Conformance with Plans/Policies - the project implements a specific
policy/plan that has been adopted by the Town Board of
Commissioners

• Project Interdependence - the project interrelates with other projects or
programs that are underway or completed (e.g. furniture & fixtures for
a new building, vehicles, and equipment for a new station, etc.)

• Severity of Foregoing the Project - service levels will be severely
impacted as a result of not going forward with the project

• Leverage (Optional Grants) - Town funds provide committed federal
or state funds at a ratio of 1 :3 or greater ( e.g. 20% local share of grant
projects)

Discretionary Projects: If/when discretionary funds are available after 
meeting the aforementioned criteria, consideration will be given to projects such 
as the follo·wing: 

• Optional Remodeling or Construction and Office Equipment/Furniture

• Optional purchase of land for additional green space and/or use m
expanding recreation or other optional services

• Optional additional vehicles & equipment and/or upgrades from existing

B. Capital Formation

1. Financing Sources: The Town acknowledges pay-as-you-go financing as a
significant capital financing source, but will ultimately determine the most
appropriate financing structure for each capital project on an individual basis
after examining all relevant factors of the project. Fund balances in excess of
31 % aforemeraieHee LGC guideliHes may be used as a capital source for pay
as-you-go financing.

2. Capital Improvement Fees: Impact fees will be calculated based on the
Capital Improvement Plan. Impact fee revenues will be used as one of the
capital sources for pay-as-you-go financing.

3. Transfers: Capital funding provided by transfers from another fund will be
programmed to specific capital projects or programs.

g 



43.5 ACCOUNTING/FINANCIAL REPORTING 

The Town will establish and maintain its accounting systems according to the North 
Carolina Local Budget and Fiscal Control Act. Financial systems will be maintained to 
monitor expenditures and revenues. 

A. All records and reporting will be in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles and Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements.

B. The Town will place emphasis on the maintenance of an accounting system that will
provide strong internal budgetary and accounting controls designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding both the safeguarding of assets against
loss from unauthorized use or disposition and the reliability of financial records for
preparing financial statements and reports, such as the budget and the Comprehensive
Annual Financial Report (CAFR), as well as maintenance of accountability of assets.

C. An annual audit will be performed by an independent certified public accounting firm
which will issue an opinion on the annual financial statements, with a management letter
detailing areas that need improvement if required. Auditing services will be evaluated
and selected through a competitive proposal process every five years at a minimum by
the Board.

D. Full disclosure will be provided in all regulatory reports, financial statements, and
bond representations.

E. The Town will maintain the least number of funds and accounts necessary for proper
and accurate records. The Town may maintain sub-funds, in addition to legally mandated
funds, for accounting and management purposes.

F. The Town's annual financial report will be prepared according to the standards
necessary to obtain the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting
from the Government Finance Officers Association and will be submitted each year for
recognition.

43.6 INTERNAL AUDIT 

The Town will establish and maintain its accounting systems according to the North 
Carolina Local Government and Fiscal Control Act. Financial systems will be maintained 
to monitor expenditures and revenues. 

A. The Town will establish and maintain an internal audit function to review and evaluate
internal controls that guide daily operations and programs.

B. A risk assessment will be conducted periodically to document risk exposures and the
internal control environment. The results of the risk assessment will be used to determine
the priorities and focus of internal audit activity. Staff may use contractors to assist with
this process.

9 



C. Prior to the implementation of new financial systems and significant system changes, a
review of the controls is required by the Finance department. Financial systems are a
combination of applications and processes used to collect, process, maintain, and
accumulate information used to budget, plan, or report financial data.
D. Special facilities, projects, contractual arrangements, and notable transactions may be
reviewed at any time to ensure proper internal controls are in place and functioning to
mitigate risk.

E. Periodic, random operating reviews will be conducted to ensure internal controls are
functioning as they are designed.

F. Special reviews may be conducted at the request of management or the Board.

G. The Town has established an Audit Committee to carry out responsibilities defined in
Policy 43.

43.7 CASH MANAGEMENT , 

A. Cash receipts will be collected and deposited as expediently as reasonably possible to
provide secure handling of incoming cash and to move these sums of money into interest
earning accounts and investments.

B. All incoming funds will be deposited daily as required by law and are allowed to be
received by the most efficient means possible. Efforts will be made to ensure deposits are
made in such a manner as to receive credit for that day's interest.

C. Cash Disbursements will be made shortly in advance of or on the agreed-upon
contractual date of payment unless earlier payment provides a greater economic benefit to
the Town.

D. Payroll disbursements will be in accordance with the requirements of all state and
federal regulatory laws, rules, and regulations. Overtime and benefit payments will be
made in accordance with the Town's Personnel Ordinance.

E. Checks will be signed by the Finance Director and the Mayor. If the Finance Director
is unavailable, the Town may sign the check. If the Mayor is unavailable the Mayor Pro
Tern may sign the check. A facsimile signature for the Finance Director must be on all
checks.

F. Disbursements will be made using the method(s) deemed most efficient at the
discretion of the Finance Director or designee.

G. Proper documentation will be maintained to meet all audit, general governmental
accounting standards, and Town policies. Accounting and purchasing have the right to
request additional documentation from departments as needed.

IO 



H. The Town will follow escheat rules and regulations as directed by NC General
Statutes and the Town's Purchasing Policy.

I. The Town will follow the following hierarchy related to revenue spending for programs
or projects with multiple revenue sources; federal funds, State funds, debt funds, local
non-Town funds, and Town funds. For purposes of fund balance classification,
expenditures are to be spent from the restricted fund balance first, followed in order by
committed fund balance, assigned fund balance, and lastly, unassigned fund balance. The
Finance Director or their designee has the authority to deviate from this policy in order to
comply with grant agreements, debt requirements, contractual requirements, or if it is in
the best interest of the Town.

J. All depositories to which public monies (funds) of the Town may be deposited shall be
(I) Official depositories as approved by the Local Government Commission and (2) be also
designated and approved by the Town Board.

K. All said depositories shall be in the State of North Carolina unless otherwise approved
by the Secretary of Local Government Commission.

L. The Town, by State Statute, is allowed to invest idle funds at interest as permitted by
G.S. 159-30. Therefore, all reasonable means should be exercised to maximize interest
income from idle funds as well as all the reserve funds consistent with budget needs.

M. Investments made, as allowed by statute, shall be such that at any given time said
investments can be converted to cash when needed.

N. No investment may be made for which it is anticipated and/or possible that the return
of said investment if were made, and its interest, could ever be diminished to an amount
less than the original investment if it were to be made.

0. All investments made with official depositories in excess of the federally insured limit
shall be fully collateralized by said depositories.

P. All interest accruing to investments, at interest, shall be identified and credited to the
same specific individual fund or funds from which the said investment or portion thereof
was derived or implemented.

Q. In order to facilitate cash flow needs and/or meet unexpected emergency situations,
terms for which investment contracts are made (i.e., such as certificates of deposit, bonds,
etc.) should be in the range of twelve (12) months to twenty-five (25) months but shall
not exceed forty-two ( 42) months unless specific approval is given by Town Board.

R. Monies (cash funds) needed for week-to-week expenditures are to be held to a
minimum in insured public fund accounts in relation to week-to-week variations in
weekly expenditures because of the lower interest-bearing rates.





I DEX 

43 .. 0 Objectives ...... 5 .. ..... ++••····· ··  . ......... ........... 4 .. +••··· .. •• • •• · ...... ................... ............ ......................... .. ........ ........ l 
43.1 Operating Budget ..................................................................................................... I 
43.2 Revenue •+•• • •-t••····· ......... ....... + .. •••i•····· · · · ·  . ............ ...... , .. ..  1••······ ................ ►- • .... ........ ..... .............. � ...... t • •  2 
43.3 Expenditure .............................................................................................................. 3 
43 .4 Capital Improvement ...................................................................................... ......... 4 
4 3 .5 Accounting/Financial Reportfog ............................................................................... 4 
43.6 Internal Audit . .. ....... ....... ....... . . . . . ................ ... . . . . .. ..... . . . . . ..... .. . ......... 5 
43. 7 Cash Management ................................................................................................... 6 
43.8 Collections .. : ............................................................................................................ ,8 

43.9 lntemal Control and Compliance .............................................................................. 8 

Approved: 

Mayor 
Town of Spring Lake 
Board of Aldermen 

Attest: 

Town Clerk 

Date 

]3 



Board of Aldermen Agenda Cover Sheet 

Meetin& Date 
May 13, 2024 

Item Title 
Discussion Regarding Mayor's Right to Vote 

Presenter 
Mayor Kia Anthony 

Summazy/Description 

Aa:enda Location 
New Business 

In North Carolina, some Towns have adopted a model where the Mayor votes on all matters before the council, 
not just in the case of a tie. This change often brings a new dynamic to the decision-making process, fostering 
a sense of shared responsibility and unity within the leadership. 

Please Note: This was previously discussed on Monday, January 24, 2022. Minutes attached. 

Requested Action 
Other - Discussion 

Fundin& Source (If Applicable); 
N/A 

� N/A Yes □ No 181 

Additional Documents to be Included in A&enda Packet 
Section b. Discussion of the Mayor's Votin� Authority - 1/24/22 minutes 
Mayor's Right to Vote Letter written by Mayor Kia Anthony 
Coates' Cannon NC Local Government Law - Powers of Mayors 
Coates' Cannon NC Local Government Law - Do Mayors Have a Duty to Vote? 



Mayor Kia Anthony provided information about the mayor's voting authority. Mayor Anthony stated the Spring 

Lake Mayor does not contribute to the votes pertaining to the business of the town. Mayor Anthony gave details in 

regards to the mayor's accountability and making decisions for the town. Mayor Anthony stated the promises she 
made to the community is the reason why she would like the opportunity to vote. Mayor Anthony stated the mayor 

signs thousands of dollars' worth of checks, but has no vote. Mayor Anthony stated the mayor has the right to be 

ceremonial, but again, no right to vote. Mayor Anthony stated there are many resources she would like to bring to 

the Board and to the community, but she can't implement them. Mayor Anthony expressed that when she does 

something wrong or right; they will call my name, but I have no vote. Mayor Anthony described her voting rights as 

a soldier on the battlefield with no weapon. Mayor Anthony expressed her concerns that the Board needs to be a 

team, and giving the mayor the right to vote helps our team make better decisions. Mayor Anthony stated she 

knows the mayor can only vote if there's a tie, but if the board can't vote without a tie, then we need to regroup, 
and figured out how to make the proposal stronger so that all six of us who was elected by the community can 
work together to have the best ideas for the town. Mayor Anthony expressed her concerns that the Board needs to 

be accountable and responsible for their actions and behavior, and wisdom to a level of submission to others 

opinion and viewpoints. Mayor Anthony explained to hold accountability in the workplace because it shows 

inclusion and provides ownership, and any decisions made in this town will be held accountable. Mayor Anthony 
stated we are one unit, we are one team, and one voice, and we all should be able to vote. Mayor Pro tern Robyn 

Chadwick had concerns regarding the mayor voting because of persuasion and abuse of powers. Mayor Pro tern 

Chadwick stated the Board will hold the mayor accountable. Alderman Lackman questioned Mr. Jonathan 

Charleston if the Board can or should proceed with the proposal to give the mayor voting rights. Mr. Charleston 

stated the Board is the policy making body, and the Board can modify the town's charter to allow the mayor to 

vote. Mr. Charleston stated the Mayor of Fayetteville votes. Alderman Lackman expressed his concerns with a tie 

vote, and did not favor the mayor's authority to vote. Alderman Lackman recommends the Board works with the 

present issues, and table this proposal at a later date. Alderwoman Cooper stated there are towns smaller than 

Spring Lake that have amended their charter that allowed the mayor to vote. Alderwoman Cooper suggested asking 

the town citizens for their opinion. Mayor Anthony stated if we can't convince four board members with a solid 

conclusion, then that initiative may not be that solid. Mr. Charleston stated there is a process that involves a 

referendum for the citizens to cast their votes. Mayor Anthony stated the town would have a public hearing prior 

to any decisions being made. 

c., d., and e. Application for the Senior Enrichment Program Advisory Committee, Military and Veterans Advisory 

Committee, and Appearance and Sustainability Committee 

Ms. Melissa Pereira requested for all applications to be approved. Alderwoman Cooper requested to table all town 
committee applications until further notice in regards to training and review the bylaws with the town's vision. 

Alderman Lackman agreed. Alderman Lackman stated the we would better serve the community, and do what's 

best for the town. Alderman Lackman pleaded with the citizens to apply so the town can be successful. Mayor 

Anthony stated the Board isn't rejecting any applications. Alderwoman Thompson recommended a deadline to 
applicants. Alderman Lackman stated unreadiness in regards to a deadline. Mayor Anthony stated the Board will 

table until we can discuss this further. 

Action: Approval of tabling all town committee applications until further guidance can be executed. 

Motion: Alderwoman Cooper 

Second by: Alderman Lackman 

Vote: Unanimous 





https://canons.sog.unc.edu/1009/11/poweu•ol•mayors/ 

·1fltlJNC
SCHQOLOF 

JJJJJ, I GOVERNMENT 

Coates
> 
Canons NC Local Government Law 

Powers of Mayors 

Published: 12/23/09 

Author Name: El:ay,da Bluestein 

Compared with many other states, North Carolina has created a very limited role for mayors. Our state 

laws leave many decisions about the management and operation of municipalities to the governing 

board, or, in jurisdictions operating in a council-manager form of government, to managers. Here's a 

review of the basic authority the legislature gives mayors. 

There are two main statutes that describe the role of the mayor: G.S. 160A-67 and G.S, 160A-69. They 

set out the basic powers of the mayor as follows: 
• The powers and duties of the mayor are those that are "conferred upon him by law,"

and those that are "conferred upon him by the council pursuant to law;"
• The mayor is the official head of the city for the purpose of service of civil process

and for all "ceremonial purposes;"
• The mayor "shall preside over all council meetings."

G.S, 160A-67 describes the mayor's powers when it comes to voting:

• If the mayor is elected separately by a vote of the people, he or she votes only in the
case of tie. If the mayor is elected as a council member (rather than directly to the
office of mayor), and is elected mayor from among the membership of the council, he
or she retains all of the voting privileges of a council member, but has no right to
break a tie vote in which he or she participated.

Copyright Cl 20011 to Present School of Government at the Unl .. nlty of North Carolln.1. 





https://canons.sog.unc.<dll/2013/11/do-mayors-h....,-•-duty-to-vot•/ 

IUNC 
SCf,tOOL OF 

GO\itff MMINT 

Coates, Canons NC Local Government Law 

Do Mayors Have a Duty to Vote? 

Published: 11/07/13 

Author Name: Frayda Bluestein 

North Carolina holds its local government board members' feet to the fire when it comes to voting. City 

council members and county commissioners have a legal duty to vote unless they are excused for any 

of several grounds allowed under the statutes. The statutes do not authorize board members to abstain. 

In cities, if a member abstains he or she is recorded as voting in the affirmative. 

What about mayors? Does a mayor who votes only in the case of a tie have a duty to vote? If she 

doesn't vote does it count as a yes? What if the mayor has a conflict of interest? May she be prohibited 

from breaking a tie? 

To answer these questions, we must consider two separate statutes. First G.S, l 60A-75 (the council 

member statute) delineates the voting requirements for city council members. This statute allows 

members to be excused from voting only on matters involving their own financial interest or official 

conduct, and in cases where certain listed state statutes prohibit them from voting. Unless excused for 

one of these reasons, if a council member leaves a meeting without being excused from the meeting and 

does not vote, or is present and does not vote, that member is counted as voting yes. The limited 

authority for being excused, combined with the "no abstention" rule creates a duty to vote for council 

members. 

A second statute, G.S. 160A-69 (the mayor statute) delineates voting requirements for mayors. Most 

mayors are separately elected by the voters, but some are chosen by the council from among its 

members. The mayor statute establishes different rules for each type of mayor. It says that mayors 

"have the right" to vote only when there are equal numbers of votes in the affirmative and the negative. 

COpyrlght C) 2009 to Pr«mt khool of Govftnm•nt ot th• Unlvttslty of North CtroUn.a. 



https:{/canons.,og.unc.<du/>Oll/U/do-m•r-rs-have-•-duty-to-wtc/ 
Mayors who are electea by the council "have the right" to vote on all matters, but have no right to break 

a tie vote in which they participated. It is important to note that some city charters may contain different 

rules for mayor voting. 

A separately elected mayor's voting powers are exclusively addressed in the mayor statute. That statute 

authorizes, but does require a mayor to break a tie. Voting by separately elected mayors is not governed 

by the council member statute therefore the duty to vote does not apply to their voting. They may 

choose to break a tie, but if they choose not to, they are not recorded as voting "yes." Instead, the tie 

vote stands and the motion fails. 

A mayor who is elected from among the members of the council, however, remains a member of the 

council, and the rules in the council member statute still apply. Council-member mayors have a duty to 

vote along with the other members. Do council-member mayors have a duty to vote to break a tie? The 

prohibition on voting to break a tie on a matter in which the mayor participated might be interpreted to 

imply that council-member mayors have the right to vote to break a tie if they did not participate in the 

initial vote. The duty to vote under the council member statute essentially prevents this situation from 

occurring. The council member statute requires them to vote with the rest of the council, and counts 

them as voting yes if they abstain. A better interpretation is that the legislative purpose of the 

prohibition on double voting is to explicitly reject the holding in an early Supreme Court case which 

allowed it. (See Markham v. Simpson, 175 N.C. 135 (1918).) 

What if the mayor has a conflict of interest? Do the conflict of interest provisions in the council 

member statute apply to mayors? That statute prohibits members from voting as required under several 

listed statutes: G,S, 14-234 (direct benefit in contracting), 160A-38 l(d.) (legislative zoning decisions), 

and 160A-388(�. ( quasi-judicial decisions). These laws create an independent basis for prohibiting the 

vote. They apply to any member of the council, as well as a separately elected mayor when she would 

be voting to break a tie. 

The voting statute also allows council members to be excused from voting on matters involving their 

own financial interest or their own official conduct. The statute does not explicitly require council 

members to be excused in these situations. These provisions are properly understood in the context of 

the duty vote. They delineate the acceptable grounds for not voting, and the duty to vote applies in 

Copy,lght O 1009 to Present School or Government ot the University of Nonh corollna. 






